

Best practices for graduated driver licensing in Canada



The Traffic Injury Research Foundation

The mission of the Traffic Injury Research Foundation (TIRF) is to reduce traffic-related

deaths and injuries.

TIRF is a national, independent, charitable road safety institute. Since its inception in

1964, TIRF has become internationally recognized for its accomplishments in a wide

range of subject areas related to identifying the causes of road crashes and developing

programs and policies to address them effectively.

Traffic Injury Research Foundation 171 Nepean Street, Suite 200

Ottawa, Ontario K2P 0B4 Ph: (613) 238-5235

Fax: (613) 238-5292

Email: tirf@trafficinjuryresearch.com
Website: www.trafficinjuryresearch.com

October 2005

Traffic Injury Research Foundation Copyright © 2005

ISBN: 0-9200 71-49-X

Best Practices for Graduated Driver Licensing in Canada

Daniel R. Mayhew Herb M. Simpson Deanna Singhal

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Insurance Bureau of Canada. The opinions, findings, and conclusions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Insurance Bureau of Canada.

A draft of this report was circulated to relevant contacts in driver licensing agencies, or their equivalent, in all jurisdictions across Canada. We greatly appreciate their assistance in ensuring that the information pertaining directly to the GDL program in their jurisdiction is accurate and up-to-date.

Executive Summary

This report describes best practices for graduated driver licensing (GDL) programs for new drivers in Canada. It is intended to set the standards for the development of new programs in Canada and for enhancing the effectiveness of those already in place. The report contains: a detailed description of current GDL programs in Canada; a comparison of these programs to GDL programs elsewhere; a description of the safety benefits of GDL, including the features that have been shown to contribute to their effectiveness; and, based on these findings, a description of best practices for GDL programs.

A central and fundamental issue is whether GDL should apply to all novices or just those who are young. Certainly, both groups are at risk because they are inexperienced; young beginners are at even greater risk owing to the additional influence of age-related factors, such as peer pressure and thrill seeking. Accordingly, jurisdictions in Canada that have already adopted GDL programs have applied it to all beginners – this practice is to be encouraged, especially since evaluations have shown that the collision reductions from these GDL programs extend to novice drivers of all ages. For the same reasons, New Zealand, whose GDL program originally applied only to drivers under the age of 25, has extended its program to all novice drivers, regardless of age.

GDL is by definition multi-staged, and research has clearly demonstrated the safety value of this approach over more conventional ones. Accordingly, most GDL programs include a multi-stage system that has, at a minimum, a learner stage and an intermediate stage before graduation to a full licence.

The report describes best practices for the structure and content of these two stages.

Learner Stage

The recommended best practices for the learner stage are described briefly below.

- Minimum entry age. The minimum entry age should be 16, which is already the case in most GDL programs in Canada.
- Entry requirements. To enter the GDL program, beginners should pass a vision test and a knowledge test on the rules of the road and safe driving practices. Parental consent should be required for beginners under age 19.
- **Minimum duration**. The minimum duration should be 12 months, which is presently the case in only a few jurisdictions in Canada.
- Maximum holding period. The maximum holding period should be 24 months at which time the learner should be given a choice of remaining on the learner stage and being retested for knowledge, or advancing to the intermediate stage with appropriate testing.

- □ **Supervisory driver**. Driving should be permitted only under the supervision of a driver: who has been fully licensed for one year, is at least 25 years old, and is seated in the front seat.
- □ **Supervised driving**. During this critical "learning" stage, the novice should be required to have a minimum of 50 hours of practice, including 10 at night and 10 different hours in winter conditions, certified by their supervisor and/or parent.
- Driver education and training. Driver education and training should be available on a voluntary basis and encouraged because it appears to be the most efficient way to acquire basic operating skills as well as motivations and attitudes. Such programs also provide a means to practice and gain needed driving experience in low risk situations, under the supervision of a qualified instructor. However, until research has demonstrated the crash reduction benefits of driver education and training, it should not receive special status, such as being allowed to substitute for time in the system. Successful completion of driver education and training should not be recognized through a "time discount", because this practice has been shown to have negative safety consequences.
- BAC. A zero BAC limit should apply. The supervisor should also be restricted to a low or zero BAC.
- □ **Night restriction.** Driving should be prohibited at night, particularly during the high risk hours of midnight to 6:00 a.m.
- □ **Passenger restriction.** No passengers, with the exception of the supervisor.
- "L" sign/Plate. The beginner should be required to display an "L" sign/plate in/on the vehicle to alert other road users of their learner status and to assist police in enforcing GDL conditions.
- **Minimum exit age.** Given that the minimum entry age is 16 and the minimum duration of this stage is 12 months, the minimum exit age should be 17.
- Other features. GDL programs in Canada already apply penalties, such as fines, demerit points, and suspensions/prohibitions for violations of GDL conditions, and this practice should be continued. During both the learner and intermediate stages, learners should also be subject to lower demerit point thresholds than fully licensed drivers. When licence suspensions or driving prohibitions are applied, novices should have to begin the stage again and/or the stage should be extended by the duration of the suspension to ensure that the learner has the full amount of driving experience before progressing to the next stage. A crash- and violation-free record should be requirements for the duration of the stage to encourage learners to drive safely.

The list of recommended best practices is extensive and it is unlikely that any jurisdiction will adopt all of them. At a minimum, however, jurisdictions should adopt the following priority recommendations for the Learner Stage:

- □ A minimum duration of at least 12 months.
- □ A mandatory requirement for certified supervised practice of at least 50 hours.
- □ Eliminate the "time discount" for driver education.

Intermediate Stage

The best practices for the intermediate stage are described briefly as follows.



Minimum entry age. The minimum entry age should be 17.
Entry requirements. Performance-based, "entry" test(s), including a road test, and testing in hazard perception should be used to ensure the novice has achieved the minimum standards of safe driving and serve as incentives for them to acquire the skills and experience needed to pass these tests.
Minimum duration. This stage should last a minimum of 12 months and preferably 24 months, which is already the case in a few jurisdictions in Canada.
Maximum holding period. The maximum holding period should be 24 months at which time the novice would be given a choice of remaining in the intermediate stage and redoing the road test, or advancing to the full licence stage with appropriate testing.
BAC. The zero BAC limit should continue in this stage. As well, when the novice is driving under supervision (e.g., during the restricted night hours), the supervisor should also have a low or zero BAC.
Night restriction. Unsupervised driving would be permitted but not during riskier night hours – e.g., from 9:00 p.m. until 6:00 a.m. Driving to/from home and work or school or school events, and other approved purposes, could be exempt.
Passenger restriction. During the first six to 12 months, for novice drivers under 20, teen passengers would not be allowed when the driver is unsupervised. After the first 6 to 12 months, teen passengers could be allowed during unsupervised driving. Immediate family members could be exempt from these restrictions.
"N" sign/plate. The novice should be required to display an "N" sign/plate on/in the vehicle.
Driver education. Integrating driver education and training could potentially enhance the effectiveness of GDL – e.g., basic skill-oriented course in the learner stage and a more advanced safety-oriented course in the intermediate stage. However, efforts should be made to improve the form and content of existing education and training programs because their safety benefits remain unproven.
Exit requirements. Passing more advanced on-road and/or computerized exit tests that focus on higher-order skills such as hazard perception should be required to graduate to a full licence. In this regard, three jurisdictions in Canada already have an on-road exit test.
Minimum exit age. The recommended minimum exit age is 19 and this is based on a minimum entry age into GDL of 16 and minimum durations of 12 months in the learner stage and 24 months in the intermediate stage.
Other features . Similar to the learner stage, novices should be subject to penalties for breaching GDL conditions, a lower demit point threshold, licence suspensions/driving prohibitions followed by a return to the start of the stage, and/or an extension of the stage by the duration of the suspension/prohibition. As well, the novice should be required to maintain a crash- and violation-free record to graduate to a full licence.

Among the above best practices for the intermediate stage are the following priority recommendations that should be adopted, at a minimum, to enhance the potential safety benefits of GDL:

No unsupervised night driving from 9:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. (exemptions for home to work or school or school events, and other approved purposes).

□ No teen passengers when driving unsupervised (for novice drivers under 20 years of age) during the first 6-months to 12-months (immediate family members exempt).

Summary

Despite the well-documented success of GDL across North America, significant numbers of novice drivers, particularly young ones, who are protected by the program, still crash. This situation can be remedied in part by implementing the best practices highlighted in this report, and at a minimum, putting in place the priority recommendations.

Although some of the best practices are already in place in a few GDL programs in Canada, none include all the priority recommendations. The research reviewed in this report clearly suggests that implementing or enhancing GDL programs with these best practices can result in further safety benefits.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	
Executive Summary	ii
Introduction	1
What is GDL and Why it Makes Sense	
How GDL Works	
How GDL has Evolved	3
Purpose and Method	7
Purpose	
Method	
Graduated Licensing In Canada	
Level 1: Learner stage	
Level 2: Intermediate Stage	
Recent or Proposed Changes to GDL in Canada	
Comparisons With Other GDL Programs	22
•	
General Features	
Learner StageIntermediate Stage	
-	
Safety Impact	29
GDL Evaluations in Canada	29
GDL Evaluations in the United States	
Key Features	
Knowledge and Skill Tests	
Supervision	
Zero or Low BAC Limits	
No Passengers	
Night Driving Restriction Driver Education/Training	
Certified Practice	
Advanced Exit Tests	
Other Practices	
Summary	
Best Practices	45
Learner Stage	46
Intermediate Stage	
Summary	
References	53
Appendix A: GDL and Other Novice Driver Licensing Systems in Canada	
British Columbia	
AlbertaSaskatchewan	
Manitoha	7

Quebec Newfoundland New Brunswick Nova Scotia Prince Edward Island Yukon Northwest Territories	77
New Brunswick	
Nova Scotia Prince Edward Island Yukon Northwest Territories	
Prince Edward Island	79
YukonNorthwest Territories	81
Northwest Territories	83
Northwest Territories	85
	89
Nunavut	91
Appendix B: Other GDL Programs	93
GDL Programs in the United States	95
GDL Programs in the Australia	105
GDL Program in the New Zealand	

Introduction —

It has been known for decades that novice drivers, particularly young ones, have a higher risk of collision than older, more experienced drivers (e.g., Mayhew and Simpson 1990; Mayhew and Simpson 1995; Mayhew et al. 2004; Simpson and Mayhew 1999; Williams 2002). The elevated crash risk for young drivers is illustrated in Figure 1, which plots the fatality rate for various age groups of drivers in Canada, standardized by the amount of travel. Drivers age 16-19 years of age have a fatality rate that is four times that of drivers age 25-34, and nine times that of 45-54 year olds (a fatality rate of 27 per billion vehicle kilometres travelled for 16-19 year olds, compared to a rate of 6 for driver age 25-34, and 3 for those between 45-54 years of age).

Historically, a mainstay of prevention strategies to address this serious road safety and public health problem has been some form of driver licensing system that requires beginners to qualify for a licence before achieving the privilege of operating a motor vehicle on public highways. The "gold standard" that has emerged is graduated driver licensing (GDL), a system that has been widely adopted throughout Canada, the United States, and Australasia.

30 25 20 20 16-19 20-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+ Age Group

Figure 1
Driver Fatality Rates* for Canada, 2001

*number of deaths per billion km of travel

What is GDL and Why it Makes Sense

A fundamental purpose of graduated licensing is to provide new drivers with the opportunity to gain driving experience under conditions that minimize the exposure to risk. This premise was explicitly recognized over 25 years ago in a paper from the Traffic Injury Research Foundation



(TIRF), "The Young Driver Paradox" (Warren and Simpson 1976). The authors argued that experience was critical to the development of driving skills because increases in experience result in decreases in the risk of collision (Mayhew and Simpson 1990; Mayhew and Simpson 1995). So, beginners need to drive as much as possible. Paradoxically, this exposes them to the risk of a collision. What is needed is a means for gaining experience while minimizing risk. This is a basic tenet of graduated licensing. Somewhat like an apprenticeship program, it is intended to ease the novice into the full range of traffic conditions. In this manner, graduated licensing provides a protective way for new drivers to gain experience. As experience and competency are gained, exposure to more demanding situations are phased in.

Graduated licensing also addresses age-related or lifestyle factors that give rise to the greater crash risk of young motorists, by minimizing the opportunities for them to engage in risky behaviours or encounter risky situations. For example, zero BAC provisions and limits on the number and/or age of passengers are designed to reduce the incidence of drinking and driving, which is particularly risky for youth, and to reduce opportunities for peer pressure.

How GDL Works

As noted above, graduated licensing systems attempt to provide a more protective environment for novice drivers by lengthening the learning process and imposing a set of restrictions aimed at reducing their risk of collision.

To achieve this, most GDL programs are multi-staged, typically including an extended learner's stage and an intermediate or novice stage before graduation to a full licence. The learner's stage involves a period of supervised driving. This stage is viewed as critical and one that cannot be bypassed. Indeed, most graduated licensing systems stipulate that the learner's licence must be held for a certain minimum period of time – typically several months or even a year.

Graduated licensing systems also impose a set of restrictions in both the learner and novice stages that relate to when they can drive, where they can drive, with whom, and how. These restrictions are intended to address conditions and circumstances known to put novice drivers at risk. They include, for example, restrictions from operating on certain high-speed highways, being accompanied by a licensed adult at all times, driving during daylight hours only, and prohibiting driving after drinking any alcohol. Ideally, these restrictions should be removed gradually and systematically, so that the novice enters the driving task and earns the privilege of full unrestricted driving in a step-by-step, progressive manner.

Graduated licensing programs also usually include a penalty structure that imposes sanctions at a lower threshold than what applies to fully licensed drivers. The threat of punishment or its application is assumed to deter unsafe driving or other violations and to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the graduated licence. One of the more popular sanctions has been to extend the graduated licensing period, or move the driver back in the system, basically withholding full driving privileges for a longer period of time.



How GDL has Evolved

Graduated licensing is certainly not new. It was first formally described in the early 1970s in the United States and a model system developed by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) in 1977 (Croke and Wilson 1977). This model was never adopted by any of the states at that time, although both Maryland and California introduced elements of it.

For the next two decades, from the late 1970s to the mid-1990s, there was virtually no progress on the legislative front in Canada or the United States, although many agencies continued to promote the concept vigorously. However, more tangible progress was occurring elsewhere. It is now generally agreed that the first truly graduated licensing system was introduced in New Zealand in August of 1987. This 3-stage program applied to all drivers between the ages of 15 and 25, inclusive, and all motorcycle operators, regardless of age.

This development was much heralded in North America and cited extensively as a legislative initiative to emulate. Of equal importance was the commitment by New Zealand officials to evaluate the program's effectiveness – an outcome anxiously anticipated by observers in North America.

At about the same time, a keen interest in graduated licensing also emerged in Australia, at least at the Federal level. Indeed, in a development that paralleled what happened in the United States two decades before, the Australian Federal Office of Road Safety designed a model program for discussion based on the pioneering work of Waller (1974, 1975) and others (e.g., Coppin 1977; Croke and Wilson 1977). And, again echoic of what happened in the United States, the comprehensive 4-stage Australian model (Boughton et al. 1987), strongly recommended by the Australian Federal Office of Road Safety, was not implemented.

Although several Australian states did adopt some of the recommended components in the model, none of them conformed adequately to the concept to be called graduated licensing (Haworth 1994), and even the most comprehensive system, introduced in the state of Victoria, was described as a weak version of graduated licensing, at best (Mayhew 1996). However, again paralleling the slow evolution of graduated licensing that took place in North America, more recent initiatives in Australia demonstrate considerable progress. For example, a 3-stage graduated licensing system was introduced in New South Wales in July 2000.

Back in North America, as noted previously, the developments in the late 80s in Australia and New Zealand, in particular, were watched with interest and enthusiasm as events that might rekindle or even ignite interest in graduated licensing.

In Canada, TIRF had, through a variety of forums, continued since the mid-1970s to underscore the serious problem of road crashes involving young drivers and had emphasized the potential benefits of graduated licensing in addressing this problem. In 1985, an international symposium, organized by TIRF, "Young Driver Accidents: In Search of Solutions", strongly endorsed the

concept of graduated licensing (Mayhew et al. 1985). Other workshops and symposium that followed, such as the symposium TIRF convened on "Novice Drivers" in Halifax in 1990, funded by the Insurance Bureau of Canada, carried a similar message.

An important landmark in the history of graduated licensing occurred in Canada in 1990, which influenced one aspect of how the program was structured, and distinguished it from the approach taken in the United States. A unique and highly influential TIRF study, funded by the Insurance Bureau of Canada, was published (Mayhew and Simpson 1990). A key finding in that comprehensive report was that increases in experience (defined in terms of years licensed) were associated with decreases in collision rates, even among older drivers. For example, newly licensed 30-year-old drivers had crash rates considerably higher than those of 30 year olds with several years of experience.

Given that the population of licensed drivers was changing in Canada – many new drivers were not young – the findings from the TIRF study dramatically shifted the focus of graduated licensing away from an exclusive application to young drivers to any new driver, regardless of their age. To reflect this change in perspective, much of the subsequent research from TIRF and others used the phrase "new to the road" to signify that all beginners were at increased risk, not just young ones. Of course, young beginning drivers were at substantially greater risk than older beginners because of the added impact of age-related factors, but it was clear that graduated licensing was needed for all new drivers. A few years later, Simpson and Mayhew (1992) replicated the results of the earlier study.

As testimony to the impact of this research, all the graduated licensing programs in Canada apply to new drivers, regardless of their age. This has, however, not been the norm in the United States, where graduated licensing has been viewed as a countermeasure for young beginners only (the exceptions to this are New Jersey and Maryland). It is important, however, that this difference be viewed in context because it is really the only fundamental distinction that can be drawn between them. Moreover, there is no disagreement that graduated licensing should be applied to older new drivers if warranted by the age distribution in the population of newly licensed drivers.

By the early 1990s in Canada, graduated licensing was being actively and aggressively promoted by a diversity of agencies and individuals, both inside government – laying the empirical foundation and making the case to politicians – and outside of government – creating a receptive public climate for change. Many have taken credit for its eventual introduction but it is difficult and perhaps inappropriate to assign credit to any one particular individual or agency.

The important point is that graduated licensing did finally emerge in Canada. In April 1994, the Ministry of Transportation for the province of Ontario introduced the first graduated licence system in Canada. Very shortly thereafter, in October of that year, the Province of Nova Scotia introduced a graduated licensing program. This was a watershed in the history of graduated licensing not only in Canada but also in North America. During the next five years, an additional



four provinces introduced graduated licensing and, of greater significance, 23 states in the United States introduced it, starting with the State of Florida on July 1, 1996.

Indeed, the public interest in graduated licensing reached such proportions that many states began to make rather minimal changes to their existing licensing programs, ostensibly to be able to say they had graduated licensing. This development was of some concern, particularly to the Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (IIHS) that had played a dominant leadership role for years, not only in the research that provided the groundwork for graduated licensing but also in actively promoting its adoption in the United States. In response to this concern and to provide direction regarding best practices in graduated licensing, IIHS together with TIRF produced a report, "Graduated Licensing: A Blueprint for North America". This document has been updated several times and the most recent version (October 2004) can be found on the IIHS website (Williams and Mayhew 2004).

Some variability in the structure and content of graduated licensing programs is to be expected because of the social, economic, geographic and political diversity among various jurisdictions. At the same time, some "programs" that have been introduced are graduated licensing in name only, suggesting that future efforts to promote it must emphasize adherence to the fundamental risk-reduction and multi-stage principles on which the concept is based and, presumably, its effectiveness is hinged. This is an issue of central importance to this report, which is intended not only to describe current and planned GDL programs but also to provide empirical guidance to all jurisdictions regarding best practices.

Purpose and Method

Purpose

Recent years have witnessed a proliferation of graduated driver licensing (GDL) programs, which has been a mixed blessing. The wider adoption of graduated licensing has been a very positive development; at the same time the programs that have evolved are anything but homogeneous in structure or content. Future developments must emphasize the importance of building systems that embrace the fundamental principles on which graduated licensing is founded. To this end, the purpose of this report, funded by the Insurance Bureau of Canada, is to describe best practices in GDL, which can be used as a standard for the development of new programs in Canada and for enhancing the effectiveness of those already in place.

Accordingly, the report contains: a detailed description of GDL programs in Canada; a comparison of these programs to GDL programs elsewhere; a description of the safety benefits of GDL, including the features that have been shown to contribute to their safety effectiveness; and, based on these findings, a description of best practices regarding GDL.

Method

Pertinent information has been obtained in three ways. Information on GDL programs in Canada was gathered by means of an electronic survey of key representatives in each Canadian province and territory. Information on GDL programs in the United States and elsewhere were obtained from contacts in those countries, published reports, and secondary sources – e.g., the Insurance Institute for Highway Safety website. Information on the effectiveness of GDL programs and their various features was obtained from a review of the published literature, much of which is contained in the TIRF specialized library.

Graduated Licensing in Canada

Since 1994, the following 12 jurisdictions in Canada have implemented some version of graduated licensing for novice drivers of passenger vehicles – Ontario (April 1994), Nova Scotia (October 1994), New Brunswick (January 1996), Quebec (July 1997), British Columbia (August 1998), Newfoundland (January 1999), Prince Edward Island (2000), the Yukon (September 2000), Manitoba (2003), Alberta (2003), the Northwest Territories (2005) and Saskatchewan (2005). Nunavut is also considering GDL.

The detailed features of each GDL program are described in Appendix 1 and then summarized in Table 1 for the learner stage, and Table 2 for the intermediate stage. Although Nunavut does not currently have a GDL program information is provided on their novice licensing system.

As can be seen, there is considerable variation across jurisdictions, although there are similarities. All jurisdictions, with the exceptions mentioned above, have adopted multi-phased graduated licensing comprised of a learner's stage and an intermediate stage. The only other exceptions are Saskatchewan and Manitoba. In Saskatchewan, the GDL program includes two intermediate stages, Novice 1 and Novice 2, before graduation to a full experienced driver's license. In Manitoba, restrictions are also included in the first year of the full licence stage. The features of each of these stages are summarized below.

Level 1: Learner stage

Entry age. The most common age for entry into the GDL program is 16 but it is lower in several jurisdictions – 14 in Alberta, 15 in the Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut. The entry age is 15 in Saskatchewan and 15.5 in Manitoba and Prince Edward Island if the beginner is enrolled in a driver education program.

Entry tests. In all jurisdictions, some form of testing is required to qualify for a learner's licence and this includes tests for knowledge and vision.

Parental consent. In all jurisdictions, with the exception of the Northwest Territories and Ontario, parental consent is also required for persons under the age of 18 or 19 to obtain a learner's licence.

Minimum duration. The minimum time that a learner's licence must be held ranges from 6 months to 12 months. Despite this variability, it is important to note that this greatly exceeds the length of time a learner's licence could be held before GDL was introduced. In six

Table 1

Key Features of the Learner Stage

Component	BC	AB	SK	MB	ON	QC	NL	NB	NS	PEI	YK	NWT	NU
Effective Date	1998	2003	2005 ¹	2003	1994	1997	1999	1996	1994	2000 ¹	2000	2005 ¹	N/A*
Entry Age	16	14	16 ²	16 ³	16	16	16	16	16	16 ³	15	15	15
Entry Tests:													
Vision	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Knowledge	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes ⁴	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Parental Consent:	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	N/S
Age applied	under 19	under 18	under 18	under 18	N/A	under 18	under 19	under 18	under 18	under 18	under 18	N/A	N/S
Minimum Duration:													
Without Driver Ed	12 mo	12 mo	9 mo	9 mo	12 mo	12 mo	12 mo	12 mo	6 mo	6 mo	6 mo	12 months	4 weeks
With Driver Ed	9 mo	N/A	9 mo	N/A	8 mo	8 mo	8 mo	4 mo	3 mo	6 mo	N/A	N/A	N/A
Maximum Duration	2 years	None	None	None ⁵	5 years ⁶	None	2 years	None	1 year	1 year	None	None	N/S
Supervisor:													
Age	25 or over	18 or over	N/S*	N/S	N/S	NS	N/S	N/S	N/S	N/S	N/S	N/S	N/S
License type	Class 1-5	Fully licensed	Class 5 + ⁷	Fully licensed	Fully licensed	Fully licensed	Class 5	Fully licensed	Fully licensed	Same vehicle ⁷	Same vehicle ⁷	Class 5 ⁷	N/S
Time licensed	N/S	N/S	1 year ⁸	3 years	4 years	2 years	4 years	N/S	N/S	4 years	2 years ⁸	2 years	N/S
BAC level	N/S	N/S	<.04	<.05	<.05	<=.08	<.05	N/S	N/S	<.08	N/S	N/S	N/S
Minimum Driving	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	50 hours ⁹	None	None
Driver Education:													
Voluntary	Yes	Yes	No ¹⁰	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes ¹¹	Yes	Yes	Yes
BAC Level	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	N/S
Night Restrictions	12am - 5am	12am - 5am	None	None	12am - 5am	None	12am - 5am	None	None	None	12am - 5am	11pm-6am	None



Learner Stage (Cont.)

Component	ВС	AB	SK	MB	ON	QC	NL	NB	NS	PEI	YK	NWT	NU
Passenger													
Restrictions:													
Number	2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1 ¹³	1	1	1 ¹⁴	2	1	N/A
Incl. supervisor	Yes	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A
Limit to # seatbelts	N/A	Yes	Yes ¹²	Yes ¹²	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A
L Sign/Plate	Mandatory	None	None	None	None	None	Mandatory	None	None	None	Mandatory	None	None
Road Restriction	None	None	None	Yes ¹⁵	Yes ¹⁶	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Penalties For													
GDL Violations	Yes ¹⁷	Yes ¹⁸	Yes ¹⁸	Yes	Yes ¹⁹	Yes ²⁰	Yes ²¹	Yes ¹⁹	Yes	Yes ¹⁸	Yes ²²	Yes ²³	None
Lower Demerit	2-6 instead	8 instead	Yes ²⁴	Yes ²⁴	9 instead	4 instead	6 instead	Yes ²⁵	Yes ²⁶	6 instead	7 instead	Yes ²⁵	None
Point Threshold	of 15-19	of 15			of 15	of 15	of 12			of 12	of 15		
Suspensions/													
Prohibitions	Yes ²⁷	Yes ²⁸	Yes ²⁸	Yes ²⁹	Yes ³⁰	Yes ³¹	Yes ³²	Yes ³²	Yes ³³	Yes ³⁴	Yes ³⁵	Yes ²³	N/S
Start Stage Over/	No	No	Yes ³⁶	No	No	No ³⁶	Yes ³⁷	Yes ³⁸	Yes ³⁹	Yes	Yes ²²	No ³⁶	N/A
Extended Period										Admin.			
Driver													
Improvement	None	Yes ⁴⁰	Yes ⁴¹	Yes ⁴¹	Yes ⁴²	Yes ⁴³	Yes ⁴⁴	None	Yes ⁴⁵	Yes ⁴⁶	None	None	None
Other Features	None	None	Yes ⁴⁷	Yes ⁴⁷	None	Yes ⁴⁸	Yes ⁴⁹	None	None	Yes ⁵⁰	Yes ⁵¹	None	None
Minimum Exit Age	16 & 9 mo	16	16	16 & 3 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 4 mo	16 & 3 mo	16 with DE	16	16	16
										16 & 6 mo without DE			

^{*} N/A means not applicable and N/S means not specified.

- 1) SK and NWT have the most recently implemented GDL programs; PEI, in 2000, extended the learner period from 30 days to 180 days and, as early as 1980, implemented their "newly licensed" driver program with reduced demerit points for the first two years.
- 2) Fifteen if applicant is enrolled in a Driver Education Program.
- 3) Fifteen and a half (15.5) in MB and PEI if applicant is enrolled in a Driver Education Program.
- 4) Applicant must score 85%.
- 5) If license allowed to lapse for greater than 4 years, Learner must rewrite knowledge test.
- 6) Five year maximum for combined G1/G2 Graduated Licensing System.
- 7) Supervisor must have completed the GDL program (SK). Supervisor must be licensed to drive same class of vehicle that Learner is driving (PEI & NWT) or higher (YK). In NWT, driver must be fully licensed.
- 8) One year within the preceeding 3 years in SK and 2 years immediately prior to teaching the Learner in YK. In SK, the supervisor cannot be a Novice 1 or 2 driver.
- 9) Ten hours in darkness and 10 different hours in winter conditions (parent/guardian/co-driver must sign Declaration of Completion).
- 10) If high school driver education, then 30 hours in-class and 6 hours in car. If commercial driver education, then 6 hours in-class and 6 hours in car.



- 11) Persons not enrolled in a driving course must take a 5 hour knowledge course for novices.
- 12) Between midnight and 5am, the only passengers allowed are immediate family members (SK). Limit of 1 passenger (supervisor) in front seat and up to number of working seatbelts in the back seat (MB).
- 13) Parents/quardians may be passengers if the driver is enrolled in driver education and is accompanied by a licensed instructor.
- 14) Family members may be passengers.
- 15) Not permitted to operate a Class 3 vehicle (farm truck) or off-road vehicle along or across highways.
- 16) Refrain from driving on "400-series" highways or other high-speed expressways unless acompanied by licensed driving instructor.
- 17) Minimum penalty for violation of any GDL restriction is \$109. Violation of the zero BAC level is an immediate 12 hour suspension and a 1 month driving prohibition for the first violation (1 year for repeat violations).
- 18) Fines and demerits for GDL Condition violations (AB, SK, & PEI). Thirty-day suspension for zero BAC violation (AB & SK).
- 19) In ON, 30-day suspension if peace officer writes a ticket for violation of license use conditions. In NB, 1 year suspension for zero BAC violation and, as a result, a return to the beginning of the stage. A loss of 3 points and a fine for no supervising driver or too many passengers.
- 20) For violating the zero BAC level, four demerit points are assigned and, as a result, there is a 3 month suspension.
- 21) For violating the zero BAC level, there is a 2 month suspension for the first occurrence, 4 months for the second, and 6 months for the third or subsequent occurrence.
- 22) If the Learner is convicted of breaking any conditions of their license or the license is suspended, cancelled, or disqualified, they must restart the Learner stage. When the license is reinstated, the Learner must still meet the time requirements but will not be eligible to do so for at least another 6 months.
- 23) Subject to 30 day suspension for violating the zero BAC level.
- 24) Earlier intervention than for experienced drivers (SK). Driver Improvement Action initiated at a lower threshold (MB).
- 25) In NB, start at 4 points and receive additional 2 points on the anniversary date of their first license, to a maximum of 10 points. In NWT, fewer demerit points are permitted.
- 26) Receive suspension at lower demerit points (4) than newly licensed drviers (6) and regular drivers (10).
- 27) Learner can be prohibited from driving for one month for receiving 4 penalty points. More points can result in longer prohibition.
- 28) Automatic 30 day suspension at 8 demerit points (AB). Drivers in any stage who are found at-fault for a collision or who receive convictions or suspensions, are placed in the GDL Improvement Program (SK).
- 29) Suspensions are issued through a hearing process.
- 30) Sixty day suspension at 9 demerit points.
- 31) Three month suspension following the accumulation of 4 demerit points.
- 32) In NL, following any suspension, Learner must pay \$100 reinstatement fee plus fines. In NB, 3 month suspension for loss of all points.
- 33) Four demerit points results in a 6 month suspension. Discretionary suspensions may be implemented by the Department upon review of a driving record.
- 34) One month suspension at 6 points.
- 35) Learner receives a one month suspension for the first time they accumulate 7 or more demerit points within one year and a 2 month suspension for the second time. An interview with the Registrar of Motor Vehicles is required for reinstatement.
- 36) In SK, non-renewals, refusals, and suspensions will increase the minimum duration of 9 months in this stage. In QC, the Learner's license is valid following the suspension but the length of the period of validity is extended by 3 months. In NWT, time spent suspended will have to be made up before moving to the next stage.
- 37) Credit is given for the driving course.
- 38) If suspended for 3 months or greater, the suspension is followed by a return to the beginning of the GDL period with no credit given for previously passed tests or driver training course.
- 39) For any suspension.
- 40) Attend Transportation Safety Board for interview as required by driving record. Voluntary Defensive Driving Course following 3 demerit reduction. If charged with impaired driving, must complete one of two courses.
- 41) In SK, a warning letter is sent to the driver if the first incident (conviction) has an assigned rating of 2 points or fewer. If the first incident (conviction, at-fault collision, suspension) has an assigned rating of 3 to 6 points, the driver will be required to attend an education seminar. Each incident after that will result in the driver being required to attend further education courses followed by administrative suspensions: Defensive Driving Course, Driver Improvement Training, 30-day, 90-day, and 180-day suspensions, interview and review. In MB, Warning letter for 1st intervention, driver course for 2nd, and driver hearing for 3rd.
- 42) Warning letter sent at 2 or more demerit points and 6 demerit points may require an interview.
- 43) Promotional campaigns and educational programs.
- 44) If suspended for demerit points, Learner must complete a Responsible Driver's Workshop (8 hour course) prior to reinstatement. For a second BAC violation, Learner must complete a 4 hour alcohol education program and, for a third or subsequent occurrence, must attend an alcohol rehabilitation program (up to 6 months).
- 45) Learner must complete a vision, signs, rules of the road, and driving test before restoration of license. Two demerit points results in an interview
- 46) Warning letter issued at 3, 4, or 5 points.
- 47) Not permitted to be a supervising driver and cannot obtain a commercial driver's licence or school bus endorsement (SK). Not permitted to take instruction in Class 1-4 or tow vehicles (MB).
- 48) Can only drive Class 5 vehicles.
- 49) No upgrade to commercial class vehicles.
- 50) If taking a driving course and knowledge and road test conducted at the school, a supplementary test may be requested.
- 51) May drive a vehicle that is equipped to carry no more than 7 persons, including the driver, and has a registered gross vehicle weight not exceeding 4000 kg.



jurisdictions, this minimum length of time in the learners stage can be reduced with successful completion of an approved driver education program – from 12 months to 9 months in British Columbia; from 12 months to 8 months in Ontario, Newfoundland and Quebec; from 12 to 4 months in New Brunswick; and from six months to three months in Nova Scotia.

Maximum duration. The maximum length of time a learner's licence can be held varies from no maximum duration in seven jurisdictions to five years in Ontario. In Manitoba, if the licence lapses for more than four years, the learner must rewrite the knowledge test.

Supervision. All jurisdictions require supervised driving at all times by a fully licensed driver. In British Columbia, the supervisor must be age 25 or older; in Alberta, the supervisor must be age 18 or older. Several jurisdictions also require the supervisor to have been licensed for a certain number of years, ranging from 1 year in Saskatchewan to 4 years in Ontario, Newfoundland, and Prince Edward Island. In Manitoba, Ontario, and Newfoundland, the supervisor is also subject to a low BAC requirement of below .05; in Quebec, and Prince Edward Island the supervisor's BAC must be below .08. In Saskatchewan, the BAC requirement is below .04.

Minimum driving required. Only one jurisdiction – the Yukon – requires parents or supervisors to certify that a certain number of hours have been driven under supervision. The requirement is a minimum of 50 hours, including 10 hours in darkness and 10 different hours in winter conditions.

Driver education. In all jurisdictions, with the exception of Saskatchewan, driver education is voluntary – i.e., novices are not required to take it to graduate to an intermediate licence. However, as noted above, several jurisdictions include an implicit incentive to take driver education since its completion reduces the length of time the novice must hold a learner's licence. In Saskatchewan, learners must take high school driver education or six hours in-class and six hours in car of commercial driver education. In Prince Edward Island, although driver education is not a licence requirement, persons not enrolled in driver education must take a five-hour knowledge course for novices.

Alcohol use. All GDL jurisdictions restrict learners from driving after drinking – a zero BAC.

Night driving. Several jurisdictions restrict learners from driving at night with a midnight to 5 a.m. restriction – British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, Newfoundland, and the Yukon. In the Northwest Territories, the learner cannot drive between the hours of 11 p.m. and 6 a.m.

Passenger restrictions. In Newfoundland, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, only the supervisor is allowed in the learner's vehicle. Prince Edward Island also only allows one passenger, the supervisor, in the vehicle, unless they are family members. British Columbia and

the Yukon allow one passenger in addition to the supervisor. In a few jurisdictions, the number of passengers is limited to the number of seatbelts in the vehicle.

Special plates. Three jurisdictions require learners to display an "L" sign or plate at all times during practice driving – British Columbia, Newfoundland and the Yukon.

Road restrictions. In Ontario, learners are restricted from driving on expressways and certain highways with high-posted speeds.

Penalties for GDL violations. In all jurisdictions penalties are applied for violating the conditions of GDL and these include hearings, fines, demerit points, license suspensions, and driving prohibitions.

Lower demerit point threshold. All jurisdictions have a lower demerit point threshold than for fully licensed drivers. This means that driver improvement actions, such as a license suspension, are taken at a lower number of demerit points, which are received for traffic violation.

Suspensions/Prohibitions. All jurisdictions suspend the licence or prohibit driving of learners who violate GDL requirements and accumulate a certain number of demerit points. The triggers for, and length of, the suspension vary across jurisdictions.

Start stage over/Extend stage. In five jurisdictions, convictions for breaches of the GDL conditions and/or a license suspension means the beginner must restart the learner stage. In Quebec, following the reinstatement of the licence, the length of the learner period is extended by 3 months. In Saskatchewan, non-renewals, refusals, and suspensions increase the minimum duration on the learner stage.

Driver improvement. In the majority of jurisdictions, demerit points trigger escalating driver improvement actions that may include specialized courses, warning letters, and an interview. In Nova Scotia, before restoration of the licence, the learner must complete a vision, signs, rules of the road, and a driving test.

Other features. Six jurisdictions identified other features of their learner stage which mostly relate to the type of vehicle that can be operated – e.g., passenger vehicle and no upgrade to a commercial vehicle.

Minimum exit age. The minimum exit age ranges from 16 in four jurisdictions to 16 years, nine months in British Columbia.

Level 2: Intermediate Stage

Nunavut does not currently have a GDL program so there is no intermediate stage before full licensing.

Entry age. In Canada, transition from the learner to the intermediate stage is time-based not age-based – i.e., the learner licence must be held for a minimum period of time, such as 6 months. This time period establishes the minimum age at which a learner can obtain an intermediate licence. In this regard, the minimum entry age ranges from 16 years to 16 years and nine months.

Entry test. In all jurisdictions, the novice must successfully pass a road test to obtain an intermediate licence, or, in the case of Nunavut, a full licence.

Parental consent. In most jurisdictions, parental consent is not required presumably because it was provided when the beginner applied for a learner's licence.

Minimum duration. The mandatory holding period ranges from 12 months to 24 months. In Quebec, the minimum holding period is 24 months or until age 25. In New Brunswick, it is 12 months or 20 months if the novice has successfully completed a driver training course and enters level 2 after 4 months (rather than after 12 months).

Maximum duration. The maximum holding period ranges from no maximum duration to 5 years.

BAC level. All jurisdictions apply a zero BAC limit in the intermediate stage.

Night driving. In Newfoundland, Nova Scotia and the Yukon, unsupervised driving at night is prohibited from midnight to 5 a.m. Two of these jurisdictions have an exemption for work purposes.

Passenger restriction. Eight jurisdictions have some form of passenger restriction. In British Columbia, only one passenger is allowed unless a supervisor accompanies the novice driver. In Saskatchewan, only one passenger, who is not an immediate family member, is allowed; in Prince Edward Island, the limit is three passengers during the first year. In the Yukon, the limit is no more than one passenger who is under 13 years old or a combination of passengers that include more than one passenger who is under 13 years old and more than one passenger who is over 12 but under 20 years old unless there is a passenger who is at least 20 years old and whose ability to supervise the younger passengers is not impaired by alcohol or drugs. In Nova Scotia and the Northwest Territories, there is a limit of one passenger in the front seat and passengers up to the number of working seatbelts in the back of the vehicle. In Manitoba, the passenger restrictions are related to the time of day: from 5 a.m. to midnight, only one passenger is allowed in the front seat and up to the number of functioning seat belts in the

Table 2

Key Features of the Intermediate Stage

Component	ВС	AB	SK	MB	ON	QC	NL	NB	NS	PEI	YK	NWT	NU
Minimum Entry Age	16 & 9 mo	16	16	16 & 3 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 8 mo	16 & 4 mo	16 & 3 mo	16	16	16	N/A
Entry Requirements:													
Road test	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes ¹
Parental Consent:	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	N/A
Age applied	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	under 18	N/A	N/A	N/A	under 18	under 18	N/A	N/A
Minimum Duration:	24 mo	24 mo	18 mo ²	15 mo	12 mo	24 mo ²	12 mo	12 mo ³	24 mo	24 mo	18 mo	12 mo	N/A
Maximum Duration	5 years	None	None	None	5 years ⁴	24 mo ²	12 mo ⁵	20 mo	5 years	N/A	N/A	None	N/A
BAC Level	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero	N/A
Night Restrictions	None	None	None	None	None	None	12am - 5am ⁶	None	12am - 5am ⁶	None	12am - 5am ⁶	None	N/A
Passenger Restrictions:													
Number	1 ⁷	N/A	1 ⁷	Yes ⁸	Yes ⁹	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes ⁸	1st yr-3 pass	Yes ¹⁰	Yes ⁸	N/A
Limit to # seatbelts	N/A	Yes	Yes ⁸	Yes ⁸	Yes ⁹	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes ⁸	2nd year	Yes	Yes ⁸	N/A
N Sign/Plate	Mandatory	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	N/A
Road Restriction	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	None	N/A
Penalties for													
GDL Violations	Yes ¹¹	Yes ¹²	Yes ¹²	Yes	Yes ¹³	Yes ¹⁴	Yes ¹⁵	Yes ¹³	Yes	Yes ¹³	Yes ¹⁶	Yes ¹⁴	N/A
Lower Demerit Point Threshold	2-6 instead of 15-19	8 instead of 15	Yes ¹⁷	Yes ¹⁸	9 instead of 15	4 instead of 15	6 instead of 12	Yes ¹⁹	Yes ²⁰	1st yr - 6 instead of 12 2nd yr - 9 instead of 12	7 instead of 15	Yes ¹⁷	N/A



Intermediate Stage (Cont.)

Component	ВС	AB	SK	MB	ON	QC	NL	NB	NS	PEI	YK	NWT	NU
Suspensions/ Prohibitions	Yes ²¹	Yes ²²	Yes ²³	Yes ²⁴	Yes ²⁵	Yes ²⁶	Yes ²⁷	Yes ²⁷	Yes ²⁸	Yes ²⁸	Yes ²⁹	Yes ¹⁴	N/A
Start Stage Over/ Extend Stage	Yes	No	No ³⁰	No	No	No ³¹	Yes	Yes ³²	Yes	Yes Admin.	Yes ¹⁶	No ³⁰	N/A
Driver Improvement	None	Yes ³³	Yes ³⁴	Yes ³⁵	Yes ³⁶	Yes ³⁷	Yes ³⁸	None	Yes ³⁹	Yes ³⁹	None	None	N/A
Other Features	None	Yes ⁴⁰	Yes ⁴¹	Yes ⁴¹	None	None	Yes ⁴⁰	None	Yes ⁴⁰	None	Yes ⁴²	None	N/A
Exit Requirements:													
Road test	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No ⁵	No	No	N/A	No	No	Yes ¹
Course	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	N/A	No	No	N/A
Minimum Exit Age	18 & 9 mo	18	17 & 6 mo ⁴³	17 & 6 mo ⁴⁴	17 & 8 mo	18 & 8 mo	17 & 8 mo	18	18 & 3 mo	18	17 & 6 mo	17	N/A

^{*} N/A means not applicable.

- 1) NU (no GDL) requires Learner to complete a road test for full license.
- 2) In SK, minimum of 6 months in Novice 1 and 12 months in Novice 2. In QC, 24 months or until age 25, whichever comes first.
- 3) Twenty months if the person has successfully completed a driver training course and enters Level 2 after 4 months.
- 4) Five year maximum for combined G1/G2 Graduated Licensing System.
- 5) Driver automatically upgrades to a full Class 5 license after 12 months of suspension-free driving.
- 6) Driver must be accompanied by a licensed experienced driver (4 years of experience required in NL) or a qualified co-driver. Night restriction exemption for work purposes available in NL and NS.
- 7) Unless accompanied by a supervisor, 25 years or older, with a valid Class 1-5 license (iimmediate family allowed with no supervisor) (BC). In SK, only one passenger, who is not an immediate family member, is allowed. All other passengers must be immediate family.
- 8) In SK, for Novice 1, one passenger only who is not an immediate family member; other passengers must be immediate family members and are limited to the number of seatbelts. For Novice 2, passengers are limited to the number of seatbelts. In NS, limit of one passenger in the front seat and up to the number of working seatbelts in the back seat; In MB, similar passenger restriction to NS but only from 5 a.m. to midnight and then from midnight to 5 a.m. either one passenger, or a qualified supervising driver in the front seat and up to the number of functioning seatbelts in the back seat. In NWT, only one passenger permitted in front seat.
- 9) Effective September 1, 2005, drivers 19 and under are prohibited from carrying more than one passenger aged 19 and under during the driver's first six months in G2, and more than three passengers aged 19 and under for the duration of the driver's time in G2 or until the driver turns 20. The restriction applies between midnight and 5 am and would be waived if the G2 driver is accompanied by a driver who has been fully licensed for at least four years. Immediate family members are exempt.
- 10) No more than one passenger who is under 13 years old. No combination of passengers that includes more than one passenger under 13 years old and more than one passenger who is over 12 but under 20 years old unless there is a passenger in the vehicle who is at least 20 years old and whose ability to supervise the younger passengers is not impaired by alcohol or drugs. No passengers in a box of a truck being operated by a novice driver.

- 11) Minimum penalty for violation of any GDL restriction is \$109. Violation of the zero BAC level is an immediate 12 hour suspension and a 1 month driving prohibition for the first violation (1 year for repeat violations).
- 12) In AB, fines and demerits for GDL condition violations. Thirty day suspension for zero BAC level violation. In SK, 30-day licence suspension for first BAC offence and requirement to take a DWI course in 90 days. Ninety-day suspension for subsequent offences and mandatory alcohol addiction screening and completion of a prescribed education or recovery program prior to licence reinstatement.
- 13) In ON, 30-day license suspension for violating the conditions set out for novice drivers. In NB, 1 year suspension for a zero BAC violation and, as a result, a return to the beginning of the stage. In PEI, 90 day suspension for alcohol violation, lower demerit point thresholds, and 1 year probation after any GDL suspension.
- 14) For violating the zero BAC level, in QC, four demerit points are assigned and, as a result, there is a 3 month suspension. In NWT, subject to 30-day suspension.
- 15) For violating the zero BAC level, there is a 2 month suspension for the first occurrence, 4 months for the second, and 6 months for the third or subsequent occurrence.
- 16) If the driver is convicted of breaking any conditions of their license or the license is suspended, cancelled, or disqualified, they must restart the Novice stage. When the license is reinstated, the driver must still meet the time requirements but will not be eligible to do so for at least another 18 months.
- 17) In SK, earlier intervention than for experienced drivers. In NWT, fewer demerit points are permitted.
- 18) Driver Improvement Action initiated at a lower threshold.
- 19) When a person is first licensed, they start at 4 points and receive additional 2 points on the anniversary date of their first license, to a maximum of 10 points.
- 20) Suspension is implemented at 6 demerit points rather than 10.
- 21) Novice can be prohibited from driving for one month for receiving 4 penalty points. More points can result in longer prohibition.
- 22) Last year of this phase must be suspension free.
- 23) Drivers in any stage who are found at-fault for a collision or who receive convictions or suspensions, will be placed in the GDL Improvement Program.
- 24) Suspensions are issued through a hearing process.
- 25) Sixty day suspension at 9 demerit points.
- 26) Three month suspension following the accumulation of 4 demerit points.
- 27) In NL, following any suspension, driver must pay \$100 reinstatement fee plus fines. In NB, 3 month suspension for loss of all points.
- 28) Suspension implemented at 6 demerit points. Discretionary suspensions may be implemented by the Department upon review of a driving record.
- 29) Driver receives a one month suspension for the first time they accumulate 7 or more demerit points within one year and a 2 month suspension for the second time. An interview with the Registrar of Motor Vehicles is required for reinstatement.
- 30) In SK, interruptions such as non-renewals, refusals, and suspensions will increase the minimum duration of 6 months in this stage. In NWT, time spent suspended will have to be made up before moving on to the next stage.
- 31) The probationary license is valid following the suspension but the length of the period of validity is extended by 3 months.
- 32) If suspended for 3 months or greater, the suspension is followed by a return to the beginning of the GDL period with no credit given for previously passed tests or driver training course.
- 33) Attend Transportation Safety Board for interview as required by driving record. Voluntary Defensive Driving Course following 3 demerit reduction. If charged with impaired driving, must complete one of two courses.
- 34) A warning letter will be sent to the driver if the first incident (conviction) has an assigned rating of 2 points or fewer. If the first incident (conviction, at-fault collision, suspension) has an assigned rating of 3 to 6 points, the driver will be required to attend an education or safety seminar. Each incident thereafter will result in the driver being required to attend further education courses followed by administrative suspensions: Defensive Driving Course, Driver Improvement Training, 30-day, 90-day, 180-day suspensions, interview and review.
- 35) Warning letter for 1st intervention, driver course for 2nd, and driver hearing for 3rd.
- 36) Warning letter sent at 2 or more demerit points and 6 demerit points may require an interview.
- 37) Promotional campaigns and educational programs.
- 38) If suspended for demerit points, Learner must complete a Responsible Driver's Workshop (8 hour course) prior to reinstatement. For a second BAC violation, Learner must complete a 4 hour alcohol education program and, for a third or subsequent occurrence, must attend an alcohol rehabilitation program (up to 6 months).
- 39) Driver subject to Driver Improvement Action earlier than experienced drivers (NS & PEI). An interview is implemented at 4 demerit points (NS).
- 40) No upgrade to commercial class driver's license (AB and NL) or beyond a Class 5 license (NS). Cannot serve as an accompanying driver to a Learner (AB).
- 41) Cannot be a supervising driver and cannot obtain a commercial driver's licence or school bus endorsement (SK). May take instruction for Class 1-4 licenses if at least 18 and meet medical standards (MB).
- 42) May drive a vehicle that is equipped to carry no more than 9 persons, including the driver, and has a registered gross vehicle weight not exceeding 4000 kg.
- 43) The Novice 1 stage, minimum duration of 6 months, is followed by a Novice 2 stage, minimum duration of 12 months (excluding interruptions and the driver must be 12 months at-fault collisions, convictions, and suspensions free). The Novice 2 stage is identical to Novice 1 in its restrictions except that the number of passengers is only limited to the number of seatbelts and the minimum exit age for Novice 1 and Novice 2 combined is 17 years and 6 months.
- 44) After the Novice stage, there are a few restrictions under the Class 5F license including: 1) zero BAC level for 12 months, 2) subject to driver improvement intervention at lower thresholds (warning letter for 1st intervention, driver course for 2nd, and driver hearing for 3rd), 3) may upgrade to a full Class 1-4 license if at least 18, meets medical standards, and passes appropriate tests, and 4) may supervise after 3 years in full stage.



back seat; and from midnight to 5 a.m. either one passenger, or a qualified supervising driver in the front seat and up to the number of functioning seatbelts in the back seat. The Ontario GDL program also applies passenger restrictions between midnight and 5 a.m.: drivers 19 and under are prohibited from carrying more than one passenger aged 19 and under during the driver's first 6 months, and more than three passengers aged 19 and under for the duration of the driver's time in this stage or until the driver turns 20; this restriction would be waived if the novice driver is accompanied by a driver who has been fully licensed for at least 4 years.

N sign/Plate. Only British Columbia requires novices to display an "N" sign or plate in their vehicle.

Road restriction. No jurisdiction prohibits driving on expressways or high-speed highways, which is a condition Ontario has in the learner stage.

Penalties for GDL violations. Similar to the learner stage, most jurisdictions have penalties associated with violating the conditions of the intermediate stage. These penalties mirror those that are in place for learners.

Lower demerit point threshold. All jurisdictions have a lower demerit point threshold than for fully licensed drivers. These are similar to those that apply in the learner stage. In Prince Edward Island, the threshold is 6 demerit points in the first year and 9 demerit points in the second year compared to 12 demerit points for a fully licensed driver.

Suspensions/Prohibitions. Like the learner stage, jurisdictions suspend the licence and/or prohibit the driving of traffic violators in this stage. In Alberta, the last year of this 24-month phase must be suspension-free.

Start over/extend the stage. In several jurisdictions, licence suspensions and/or interviews that are administered because of an unsatisfactory driving record may result in the stage being extended. For example, in Saskatchewan, interruptions such as non-renewals, refusals, and suspensions will increase the minimum duration on this stage. In a few jurisdictions, the suspension is followed by a return to the beginning of this stage.

Driver improvement. Driver improvement actions include courses, typically, in defensive driving, warning letters, and interviews. In Saskatchewan, at-fault collisions will result in driver improvement actions.

Other features. In several jurisdictions, novice drivers cannot upgrade to a commercial class driver's licence. In Alberta, the novice driver also cannot serve as an accompanying driver to a learner. However, this would also be the case in most other jurisdictions because the supervisor must be fully licensed.

Exit requirements. An advanced, on road, exit test is required to exit the intermediate stage in British Columbia, Alberta, and Ontario. In Newfoundland, the novice driver is automatically upgraded to a full license after 12 months of suspension-free driving. In Saskatchewan, in the second novice driver stage, the driver must be free of at-fault collisions, convictions and suspensions, for a 12-month period.

Minimum exit age. The minimum exit age ranges from 17 years, 6 months in Saskatchewan, Manitoba and the Yukon to 18 years, 9 months in British Columbia. In Saskatchewan, the minimum exit age for the second novice driver stage is 17 years and 6 months. In Manitoba, following the novice stage, there are further conditions, including a zero BAC for 12 months, and driver improvement actions at lower demerit point thresholds.

Recent or Proposed Changes to GDL in Canada

As described in detail in previous sections, the GDL programs in Canada vary in form and content rather substantially. Some programs have numerous restrictions; others are graduated licensing more in name than substance. There has been some concern that as comprehensive a program as possible should be implemented at the outset because subsequent amendments to enhance the program are unlikely. This concern, however, does not appear to be warranted because several jurisdictions have already made changes to their program or have plans or proposals to do so.

- British Columbia implemented enhancements to their GDL program in the fall of 2003 which included: increasing the length of the learner period from six months (three months with driver education) to 12 months (nine months with driver education); and a restriction on the number of passengers in the intermediate stage. They have no further changes planned. However, following the evaluation by Wiggins (2004), The Insurance Corporation of British Columbia (ICBC) has been working with road safety stakeholders and the driver training industry in an attempt to implement their recommendations in order to increase the safety of new drivers. One of the recommendations from the report was to eliminate the time discount for driver education.
- Ontario passed Bill 73, An Act to Enhance the Safety of Children and Youth on Ontario's Roads, in December 2004 and a new GDL restriction came into effect on September 1, 2005. The changes to the GDL program included a passenger restriction whereby drivers, 19 or under, would be prohibited from carrying more than one passenger, aged 19 or under, during the driver's first six months in the intermediate stage, and prohibited from carrying more than three passengers aged 19 or under for the duration of the driver's time in this stage, or until the driver turns 20. The restriction applies between midnight and 5 a.m. and would be waived if the novice driver is accompanied by a driver who has been fully licensed for at least four years. Immediate family members would be exempt.
- The Northwest Territories implemented a GDL program on August 1, 2005. The learner stage is a minimum of 12 months and prohibits the learner from having any other passengers other than the supervisor and from driving between the hours of 11 p.m. and 6 a.m. The 12 months intermediate stage requires the novice to be 16 years of age, and allows only one passenger in the front seat. The novice must be suspension-free over this mandatory period.
- Saskatchewan implemented a 3-stage GDL program on September 1, 2005. As described in the previous sections, the Learner stage has a mandatory 9 month duration and requires the



new driver to: be 16 (15 if enrolled in a high school driver education program); pass a written test; have an experienced supervisory driver in the front seat at all times; and have a zero BAC, which is the case for all stages. Passengers are limited to the number of working seatbelts and must be family members between the hours of midnight and 5 a.m. Driver education/training is mandatory. The Novice 1 stage is for 6 months and the entry requirements include the new driver being 16 and passing a road test. Only one passenger, who is not a family member, is allowed and all other passengers must be family members and are limited to the number of working seatbelts. Novice 2 has a 12 month duration that must be free of at-fault collisions, convictions, and suspensions. The number of passengers is limited to the number of working seatbelts.

- In New Brunswick, the Minister of Public Safety introduced legislation in December 2004 which would amend the provisions of their GDL program. The bill received first and second reading and has been referred to the Committee of the Whole House. If passed, the bill would prohibit novice drivers from driving between the hours of midnight and 5 a.m., unless accompanied by a fully licensed driver. The legislation would also limit the number of passengers who can accompany a novice driver restricted to the number of working seat belts in the vehicle with only one passenger permitted to sit in the front seat.
- Nova Scotia is currently discussing a requirement to complete an exit course in the Class 7
 Learner stage and an L sign requirement in the Learner stage when training in a private
 vehicle.
- Both Quebec and the Yukon are conducting a review/evaluation of their GDL program. In the Yukon, new drivers, parents and others have been encouraged to provide their views on the GDL program, which has been in place since 2000.
- In Nunavut, a Legislative Proposal is being submitted to review their current legislation pertaining to licensing and to consider a GDL program.

Comparisons With Other GDL Programs —

As described earlier, countries other than Canada have GDL programs. This section provides an overview of the most common features – the structure and content – of GDL programs in other jurisdictions as well as unique features that distinguish them from GDL programs in Canada.

Also as noted earlier, New Zealand, the first jurisdiction to introduce a truly graduated licensing system in 1987, was influenced by the model system developed earlier by NHTSA in the United States and implemented, in part, in Maryland and California as demonstration projects. In turn, in the 1990s, the programs introduced in Canada, many U.S. states, and Australia were influenced by New Zealand's GDL program. It is, therefore, not surprising that there are similarities in the general structure and feature of all these GDL programs. At the same time, given the variations in GDL programs within Canada, described in the previous section, it is not surprising that there are important differences in GDL programs within and between other countries.

The tables in Appendix B, which are taken from various sources, provide details on the GDL licensing requirements in all U.S. and Australian jurisdictions and in New Zealand. The section below focuses on the most common practices and identifies the unique features that differ from GDL programs in Canada.

General Features

Multi-staged. By definition, GDL programs are multi-staged. The norm is to have two stages – a learner and intermediate stage -- before full licensing. This is the case in GDL programs in Canada, the United States, and Australasia. However, the GDL program recently implemented in Saskatchewan has a learner stage and 2-novice stages. Three of the jurisdictions in Australia also have 3-stages before the full licence – Western Australia has 2-learner stages; New South Wales and the Australia Capital Territory have 2-intermediate stages. It could be argued that Manitoba has three stages since the zero BAC restriction in their GDL program extends for the first 12 months of the full licence and novices are still subject to a lower demerit point threshold.

Young Drivers or Novice Drivers. In all jurisdictions in Canada as well as in New Zealand, GDL applies to all new drivers, regardless of age. However, in Quebec, novice drivers 25 and over move from the learner stage to a full licence. In New Zealand, the low BAC limit only applies to those under the age of 20, and, those age 25 years and older, do not have to stay as long in the intermediate stage. Most Australian jurisdictions reduce the length of time for the learner permit for applicants age 25 and over. However, these older novices are still subject to the conditions of the intermediate stage(s).

In contrast, all jurisdictions in the United States, with the exception of Maryland and New Jersey, apply GDL to teenage drivers only, usually under the age of 18.

Age-based or Time-based. Unlike GDL programs in Canada, most programs in the United States are age-based in that the restrictions may be lifted after a certain age, typically at age 18. Like GDL programs in Canada, those in New Zealand and most Australian jurisdictions have a minimum mandatory holding period for the learner stage and the intermediate stage. As mentioned above, however, in most Australian jurisdictions the minimum duration of the learner stage, but not the intermediate stage(s), is waived for applicants age 25 and over. By contrast, in New Zealand the minimum duration of the intermediate stage, but not the learner stage, is shortened for novices age 25 and over.

Learner Stage

Entry age

□ The minimum entry age is 16 in the majority of Canadian jurisdictions and in several Australian states. Most U.S. states allow 14 or 15 year olds to obtain a learner licence; the entry age is 15 in New Zealand; and it is 15 years and 9 months in the Australian Capital Territory.

Minimum duration

- □ The most common practice is to require the learner's licence to be held for a minimum of six months this is the case in several Canadian jurisdictions, the majority of U.S. states, New Zealand, and most Australian states. Longer learner periods are less common although seven jurisdictions in Canada have extended the minimum to 12 months (in a few of these the time requirement can be reduced by taking driver education see below).
- □ Western Australia has two learner stages but there is no minimum period before applying to progress from the first to the second learner stage.
- □ Canada is relatively unique in allowing a reduction in the minimum holding period i.e., the so-called "time discount" -- for successful completion of driver education. Four of the six Canadian jurisdictions that offer a time discount reduce the minimum holding period from 12 months to 8 or 9 months; in New Brunswick the minimum holding period is reduced from 12 months to 4 months; in Nova Scotia the reduction is from 6 months to 3 months. In the United States, only 4 jurisdictions Connecticut, Indiana, New Jersey and South Dakota -- have such a time discount for driver education. Although the original GDL program in New Zealand included a time discount from 6 months to 3 months it was dropped when enhancements were introduced to the program a few years ago. However, in the intermediate stage, if the novice completes an approved course the length of the holding period is reduced. There is no time discount for driver education in Australian jurisdictions with one exception in the Northern Territory, learners who choose to take the 6-hours of theoretical competency-based training are not required to hold the learner licence for the mandatory 6-month period.

Minimum amount of supervised driving

☐ In Canada, only one jurisdiction – the Yukon – requires parents to certify that a minimum number of hours have been driven under supervision (a minimum of 50 hours, including 10 hours in darkness and 10 different hours in winter conditions). New



Zealand also has no requirement for practice driving. By contrast, the majority of U.S. jurisdictions require a minimum amount of supervised driving practice, typically ranging from 30-50 hours, and a few include the requirement that some of these driving hours be at night. In a few U.S. jurisdictions, certification of supervised driving is waived for learners who complete driver education. Oregon requires 50 hours, if the learner also takes driver education, or 100 hours if they do not take driver education. Two Australian jurisdictions – New South Wales and Tasmania -- require 50 hours of supervised driving.

Passenger restrictions

□ In Canada, seven jurisdictions have passenger restrictions that generally include the supervisor only, or the supervisor plus one passenger. In Saskatchewan, between the hours of midnight and 5 a.m. passengers must be immediate family members. By contrast, only a few jurisdictions in the United States have passenger restrictions, typically a limit of one to three passengers plus the supervisor. New Zealand and all the Australian jurisdictions do not have passenger restrictions.

Night restrictions

Restrictions on driving at night are not common. In Canada, five jurisdictions have a night restriction, which prohibits driving between midnight and 5:00 a.m. The Northwest Territories has a night restriction between the hours of 11 p.m. and 6 a.m. A few U.S. jurisdictions have night restrictions, which range from 9:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. (some of these are age-based and only apply to those under 18). New Zealand and Australia do not have night restrictions.

Mandatory driver education

This is a more common practice in the United States than elsewhere. In Canada, only 2 jurisdictions – Saskatchewan and Prince Edward Island -- require some form of driver education. Driver education is not a mandatory requirement in most Australian jurisdictions and in New Zealand. However, several U.S. jurisdictions have a mandatory driver education requirement, typically for novices under the age of 18.

Supervisory driver

In Canada, two jurisdictions have age requirements for the supervisor, 12 have license requirements, eight have a requirement for years of driving experience, and six have a BAC limit. In New Zealand, the supervisor must have had a full driver licence for at least two years. No Australian jurisdiction has age specifications for the supervisor. But, seven of the eight require the supervisor to have a full licence, with one requiring that a driver having their intermediate licence for one year may serve as a supervisor. Three require the supervisor to have from two to four years of driving experience. Three have a low BAC limit of .05. Very few U.S. jurisdictions mention any requirements regarding the supervisor other than they may be a parent/guardian or driving instructor (a few mention an age restriction).

BAC Limit

□ It is the norm to restrict drivers in the learners stage to a BAC limit that is lower than other drivers. In Canada, for novices in the learner stage of the GDL, all jurisdictions have a zero BAC limit. This is also the case in the United States but this arises from the 21-year old minimum drinking age laws, which are not considered a part of GDL programs. The GDL program in New Zealand has a low BAC limit of .03 for learners under 20 years and a BAC limit of .08 for those over 20 years. All Australian jurisdictions have a BAC limit -- five have zero and three have .02.

Road/Speed Limit

Only Australia has maximum speed restrictions; five of the 8 jurisdictions have them, ranging from 80 to 100 km/hr. Ontario has a de facto limit since driving is prohibited on expressways and certain high-speed highways. The U.S. jurisdictions, New Zealand and all but one Australian jurisdiction do not have road restrictions. In Western Australia, the first learner stage has a maximum speed limit of 100 km/h and no freeway driving. The second learner stage allows freeway driving but retains the speed restriction.

L Sign/Plates

□ Three jurisdictions in Canada and seven of the eight in Australia require learners to display an L sign/plate. This is not the case in any jurisdiction in the United States or in New Zealand.

Intermediate Stage

Entry age

□ Entry age refers to the earliest age at which someone can move from the learner stage to the intermediate stage. It does not mean that this transition happens automatically when someone turns the requisite age because of the mandatory holding period in the learner stage. GDL programs in Canada, which are time-based, have an entry age lower than 17 years, ranging from age 16 to age 16 and 9 months. The majority of U.S. jurisdictions have an entry age of either age 16 or age 16 and a few months. The entry age in six U.S. jurisdictions is less than 16 and in New Jersey the entry age is 17. The entry age in New Zealand is 15 years and six months. Six of the eight Australian jurisdictions have a 17 or older entry age; the other two have age 16.5.

Entry requirements

Most GDL programs in Canada and elsewhere require the learner to pass an on-road practical test to obtain an intermediate licence. In Western Australia, the road test is actually taken to move from the first to the second learner stage. A hazard perception test must be passed to progress to the intermediate stage. In Victoria, the learner has to pass both a road test and a hazard perception test to obtain an intermediate licence. In New South Wales, the learner has to pass a road test to progress to the first intermediate stage and then a hazard perception test to progress to the second intermediate stage.

Minimum duration

- □ In Canada, the minimum duration ranges from 12 months to 24 months. In Saskatchewan, the minimum duration for the Novice 1 stage is 6 months and the Novice 2 stage is 12 months. In the United States, the minimum holding period is related to age and the restrictions, such as no driving unsupervised at night are typically lifted at age 17 or age 18. In Australia, the length of the intermediate licence period ranges from one to three years, although this can be age dependent e.g., in Queensland it is 3 years if aged under 23 years, 2 years if 23-24 years; and only one year if >24 years. In New Zealand, the minimum duration is 18 months for those under 25 years of age, or after six months if the novice is 25 years of age or older.
- □ No jurisdiction in Canada or Australia reduce the length of time on the intermediate stage for driver education and training. In the United States, however, a few jurisdictions lower the minimum age at which restrictions may be lifted if driver education has been completed typically, from age 18 to age 17. In New Zealand, on successful completion of an approved course, the length of this stage is reduced from



18 months to 12 months for those aged under 25 years and, from 6 months to 3 months for those aged 25 or older.

Night restrictions

□ Night driving restrictions in the intermediate stage are more common in the United States and New Zealand. The majority of U.S. jurisdictions have some restriction on unsupervised night driving between the hours ranging from 8:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. New Zealand restricts unsupervised night driving from 10 p.m. to 5:00 a.m. In Canada, only three jurisdictions – Newfoundland, Nova Scotia, the Yukon – restrict unsupervised night driving, between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. There are no night restrictions in Australia.

Passenger restrictions

- Passenger restrictions are typically varied and complex. Eight Canadian jurisdictions currently have restrictions on the number of passengers. In British Columbia, only one passenger is allowed unless accompanied by a supervisor. In Saskatchewan, only one passenger, who is not an immediate family member, is allowed. In Nova Scotia and the Northwest Territories, there is a limit of one passenger in the front seat and up to the number of seat belts in the back. In Prince Edward Island, during the first year of the intermediate stage, only 3 passengers are allowed and in the second year there is a limit up to the number of seat belts. In the Yukon, the limits are not more than one passenger who is under 13 years old, and no combination of passengers that includes more than one passenger under 13 years old and more than one passenger who is over 12 but under 20 years unless there is a passenger in the vehicle who is at least 20 years old. In Manitoba, the passenger restriction is related to the time of day – e.g., from 5 a.m. to midnight, only one passenger in the front seat, and up to the number of functioning seat belts in the back seat; from midnight to 5 a.m., only one passenger unless a qualified supervisor is in the front seat. In Ontario, the passenger restriction relates to both the time of day and the age of the novice driver as well as of the passenger – between midnight and 5 a.m., drivers 19 and under are prohibited from carrying more than one passenger age 19 and under during the driver's first six months on this stage, and more than three passengers aged 19 and under for the duration of the driver's time on this stage or until the driver turns 20, unless the driver is accompanied by a driver fully licensed for at least four years.
- □ In the United States, the majority of jurisdictions have some form of passenger restriction. Among these jurisdictions, several have their restrictions only for the first 3-6 months. In some of the jurisdictions, the restrictions are age-based and do not apply, for example, to drivers over 18. The restrictions include no passengers, no passengers unless accompanied by a supervisor, and one to three passengers. A few jurisdictions have age limits on the passengers (e.g., limiting the transport of persons age 18 or under or age 20 and under). In New Zealand, the only passengers allowed without a supervisor are family members; other passengers are allowed when accompanied by a supervisor. Only one Australian jurisdiction Victoria -- has a passenger restriction, but it is only applied if the driver's licence has been disqualified in the first year. The driver is then limited to one passenger.

N Sign/Plates

British Columbia is the only jurisdiction in Canada to require an N sign/plate. This is a requirement in seven of eight Australian jurisdictions. Jurisdictions in the United States and New Zealand do not require N sign/plate.

BAC limit

All jurisdictions in Canada have a BAC limit. This is also the case in the United States but again this arises from the 21-year old minimum drinking age laws, which are not considered a part of GDL programs. The GDL program in New Zealand has a low BAC limit of .03 for novices under 20 years and a BAC limit of .08 for those over 20 years. All jurisdictions in Australia also have a low BAC limit. Five have zero and three have .02.

Speed/road restrictions

□ There are no restrictions on the types of roads that can be used by those in the intermediate stage in Canada, the United States or in New Zealand. Five of eight Australian jurisdictions have a speed restriction – the maximum posted limits range from 80 km/hr to 110 km/hr.

Transmission restriction

□ This does not exist in Canada or the United States. However, a few Australian jurisdictions and New Zealand have it – typically, driving of a manual transmission vehicle is not allowed if the novice did their road test in a vehicle with an automatic transmission.

Vehicle power restriction

□ This does not exist in Canada, the United States or in New Zealand. However, one Australian jurisdiction has it. In Victoria, novices must not drive a high-powered vehicle defined as a motor vehicle (not a motorcycle or motor trike) that has a power to mass ratio exceeding 125 kilowatts per tonne or has an engine capacity exceeding 3.5 litres per tonne of the unladen mass of the motor vehicle.

Exit Requirements

- Exit requirements in Canada are time-based (e.g., after 5 years) typically tied to the renewal of the licence, whereas in the United States they are mostly age-based e.g., turning 18. In Australia, all jurisdictions have a maximum duration. The length of their intermediate period ranges from 1 to 3 years.
- Three jurisdictions in Canada require the novice to pass an advanced, on-road, test to graduate to a full licence; no U.S. state has such a requirement. Similar to a few jurisdictions in Canada, New Zealand also requires the novice to pass a full, on-road, licence test that focuses on basic driving as well as on detecting and responding to driving hazards. One Australian jurisdiction New South Wales -- requires an exit test (which is a combination of an advanced hazard perception test), a further test of the road rules and knowledge of safe driving practices.

Safety Impact —

There is a growing body of research demonstrating that graduated licensing is an effective safety measure. Almost all the scientific evaluations conducted to date have reported positive safety benefits. Studies into the safety effectiveness of graduated driver licensing in New Zealand, Canada, and the United States have shown overall reductions in crashes ranging from 4% to 60%. Given the diversity of the programs, it is not surprising that the magnitude of the crash reductions reported to date have varied so much.

However, this variability may also be a result of the different evaluation designs and statistical analyses used in the studies, ranging from simple pre-post comparisons with no control group(s), which are needed to account for the effects of other factors and events influencing collisions, to the use of powerful interrupted time series analysis. As well, the basic groups being studied have differed e.g., the New Zealand program originally applied to drivers under the age of 25; the Canadian programs apply to all novices not just young ones; the Australian programs also apply to all novice except the learner phase is generally waived or reduced for those age 25 and over, and the U.S. programs apply primarily to drivers under the age of 18.

Perhaps most studied has been the New Zealand program, that was implemented in 1987 (Frith et al. 1992; Langley et al. 1996; Begg et al. 2001; Begg and Stephenson 2003). The initial evaluations reported rather substantial reductions in casualty collisions of approximately 25% and these impressive effects were widely cited. The longer-term evaluations have found sustained and significant effects but the reductions are more in the order of 7% to 8%. According to Begg and Stephenson (2003), an update of the most recent crash statistics indicated that, compared with older age groups, the fatal and serious injury crash rate among young people has remained substantially below the pre-GDL level.

GDL Evaluations in Canada

In Canada, studies into the effectiveness of graduated driver licensing programs implemented in Ontario in 1994, Nova Scotia in 1994, Quebec in 1997 and, British Columbia in 1998 have all reported collision reductions among all age groups of novice drivers. A summary of the findings is displayed in Table 3.

Ontario. Boase and Tasca (1998) conducted an interim evaluation of the Ontario program using a simple pre-post comparison group design. They found that the overall collision rate per 10,000 novice drivers licensed in 1995 (program group) was 31% lower than the rate observed for 1993 novice drivers (comparison group). The overall collision rate declined with the introduction of GDL for all age groups of novice drivers: a 31% reduction among those aged 16-19; a 42% reduction among 20-24 year olds; a 38% reduction among 25-34 year olds; a 37%

reduction among 35 to 44 year olds; a 24% reduction among 45-54 year olds; and a 19% reduction among novice drivers aged 55 and over.

Table 3

GDL Evaluations in Canada

Province	GDL Date	Authors	Target Goup(s)	Results		
				% Reduction	Measures	
Nava Castia	1001	Marihani et al. 2004	duivene ene 40	270/	number of crashes	
Nova Scotia	1994	Mayhew et al. 2001	drivers age 16	-37% -31%		
				-31% -24%	number of injury crashes	
				-24% -34%	per capita crash rate	
			all paying drivers	-34% -19%	per capita casualty crash rate	
			all novice drivers	-19% -22%	per driver crash rate	
			age 16	-22% -21%		
			age 17-24	-21% -43%		
			age 25+	-43%		
Nova Scotia	1994	Mayhew et al. 2003	all novice drivers			
			age 16-17	-29%	per driver crash rate (L stage 1st year)	
				-9%	per driver crash rate (I stage 1st year)	
				-11%	per driver crash rate (I stage 2nd year)	
				no change	per driver crash rate (additional 3rd year)	
			age 18 and older	-31%	per driver crash rate (L stage 1st year)	
				-2%	per driver crash rate (I stage 1st year)	
				+24%	per driver crash rate (I stage 2nd year)	
				+32%	per driver crash rate (additional 3rd year)	
Ontario	1994	Boase and Tasca 1998	all novice drivers	-31%	per driver crash rate	
			age 16-19	-31%	F	
			age 20-24	-42%		
			age 25-34	-38%		
			age 35-44	-37%		
			age 45-54	-24%		
			age 55+	-19%		
			all novice drivers	-24%	per driver casualty crash rate	
Quebec	1997	Bouchard et al. 2000	all novice drivers	-5%	number of fatalities	
Quebec	1001	2000 laid of al. 2000	an novice drivers	-14%	number of injuries	
				-7%	per driver fatality rate	
				-17%	per driver injury rate	
British Columbia	1998	Wiggins 2004	all novice drivers	-16% to -17%	per driver crash rate	

The effects of the alcohol, night and freeway restrictions in Ontario were also examined and found to be effective: reductions were observed in alcohol-related collisions (a 27% decline), collisions between midnight and 5 a.m. (a 62% decline) and collisions on freeways (a 61% decline). By contrast, the "time discount" for driver education was not found to be associated with a reduction of collision involvement – drivers with certificates from approved driving schools had an overall collision rate that was 44% higher than novices without this certificate.

Nova Scotia. The evaluation of the graduated licensing program in Nova Scotia by TIRF (Mayhew et al. 2001) used a series of increasingly refined analyses that controlled for the



influence of other explanatory variables. All the analyses showed that the GDL program was associated with a significant reduction in crashes. For drivers age 16, before and after comparisons (1993 versus 1995, the first full year of the program) showed a 24% reduction in total per-capita crash rates, relative to the control group (drivers age 25 and over). Crash rates in 1996 were 36% lower than in 1993, showing that the initial impact was sustained. Comparable decreases occurred in injury crash rates. Improvements were observed for all novice drivers, not just those who were young. The crash rate for all new drivers dropped by 19% between 1993 and 1995.

A more recent follow-up evaluation of the specific and long-term effects of the Nova Scotia program (Mayhew et al. 2003) confirmed the results described above but of considerable interest found that most of the declines in collisions occurred during the learner stage. Crash rates, standardized by number of licensed drivers, were significantly lower during the learner stage for GDL drivers age 16-17 than for pre-GDL drivers age 16-17 (29% reduction the first year). This was also true of older novice drivers 18 years and older (31% reduction the first year). During the intermediate stage, GDL drivers age 16-17 continued to exhibit a significant reduction in crash rates (9% for the first year and 11% for the second). However, older GDL novices were not different from pre-GDL novices during the first year and, actually, exhibited a 24% increase in crash rates during the second year.

Looking specifically at the intermediate stage, it was found that all GDL drivers had significantly lower crash rates than pre-GDL drivers, during the hours of restricted night driving (45-60% lower from midnight to 5 a.m.). GDL drivers also had an 11% reduction in crash rates for the first 6 months during the hours of 5 a.m. to midnight. Comparing GDL drivers who completed driver education to those who did not revealed no reduction in crash rates. In fact, GDL drivers who completed driver education had a significantly higher crash rate (20% higher). It was speculated that the time discount associated with driver education completion did not provide a "safety benefit". This finding was entirely consistent with what was found in the Ontario evaluation.

Quebec. The graduated driver-licensing program implemented in Quebec in 1997 was also shown to be effective (Bouchard et al. 2000). They found, after adjusting for changes in deaths and injuries among the control group, a 5% reduction in fatalities and a 14% reduction in injuries attributable to the new program. Reductions of 7% and 17% were also found in the per-driver fatality rate and the injury rate. Their analyses also showed that alcohol-related fatalities and injuries declined by 9%.

British Columbia. Wiggins (2004) conducted an evaluation of British Columbia's graduated licensing program (GLP) by examining differences in per-driver crash rates and violations before (August 1, 1996 to July 31, 1997) and after (August 1, 1998 to July 31, 1999) the program was implemented. They found a 13.3% reduction in the overall crash rate of GLP drivers and a 16-17% reduction after adjusting the data for age, gender and driver time. In addition, there was a 12% reduction in the overall crash rate for GLP drivers who graduated to the novice stage during the study period. Though no differences were found in the proportion of

late night crashes or crashes involving prohibited passengers, GLP drivers had a higher incidence of alcohol-related crashes. The authors note that this may be partly due to higher police reporting of alcohol involvement due to the GLP zero BAC limit.

GDL Evaluations in the United States

In the United States, evaluations have been conducted on GDL implemented in Florida in 1996, North Carolina in 1997, Michigan in 1997, Ohio in 1997, California in 1998, and Utah in 1999 (2001). Almost all have found safety benefits and the key findings are displayed in Table 4. All these programs include a night restriction in the intermediate stage, ranging from 9:00 p.m.-5:00 a.m. in North Carolina, to 1 a.m.-5 a.m. in Ohio. The program in California and Utah also include a restriction on teen passengers – in California, no passengers younger than 20 can be transported by someone with a graduated licence during the first six months of the intermediate stage, unless they are supervised by a 25-year-old driver; in Utah, no passengers, other than the immediate family, unless supervised, after 6 months or at age 18.

In addition, the "partial" graduated licensing programs introduced in Kentucky in 1996 and Connecticut in 1997 have also proven effective in reducing the crash involvement of teen drivers. Neither of these programs have an intermediate stage but both have an extended learner stage with a mandatory six-month holding period.

Recently, Dee et al. (2005) examined the effects of GDL on teen traffic fatalities in the U.S. They report that GDL reduced traffic fatalities among 15-17 year-olds by at least 5.6%, and that there was no evidence that these benefits were attenuated by an increase in fatality risks during the full-licensure period available to older teens. As well, their results suggest that stronger, more stringent, GDL programs appear to have the greatest reductions in motor vehicle fatalities among 15-17 year-olds.

California. The GDL program in California has undergone four evaluations. All but one of these found overall safety benefits. The one that did not find an overall effect did, however, find reductions related to the night and passenger restrictions.

The Automobile Club (2001) reported that the number of fatal and at-fault injury crashes among 16-year-old drivers declined by 23% following implementation of the graduated licensing program in 1998; at-fault non-injury collisions of 16 year olds declined by 17% over this period. There was also a 40% decline in teen passenger deaths and injuries in vehicles driven by 16-year-old drivers.

Rice, Peek-Asa, and Kraus (2004) also assessed the effectiveness of California's program by comparing per capita crash rates of 16- and 17-year old drivers prior to the introduction of GDL (1997) with crash rates during two post-GDL years (2000 and 2001). A reduction in fatal or severe injury crash rates was found for both age groups across both post-GDL years. This translated into an overall reduction of 28%, comparing 1997 to 2000, and a 17% reduction,



Table 4

GDL Evaluations in the United States

State	GDL	Authors	Target Goup(s)		Results
	Date			% Reduction	Measures
California	1000	AA Southorn Col. 2004	drivere ego 16	220/	number of acqualty at fault graphs
California	1998	AA Southern Cal. 2001	drivers age 16	-23% -17%	number of casualty at-fault crashes number of non-injury at-fault crashes
				-40%	number of floor-injury at-rault crashes
					namber or toon pager acathern fance
California	1998	Rice et al. 2004	drivers age 16-17	-17% to -28%	per capita fatal or severe injury crash rate
				-20% to -29%	per capita struck object crash rate
				-17% to -22%	per capita multiple vehicle crash rate
				-28% to -37% -10% to -13%	per capita non-collision crash rate per capita minor injury crash rate
				,	per capital rimiter injury content content
California	1998	Cooper et al. 2004	drivers age 16	-19% to -26%	per capita fatal/injury crash rate
				-17%	number of at-fault crashes
California	1998	Masten and Hagge 2004	drivers age 15-17	no change	per capita fatal/injury crash rate
Gallionila	1330	Masterrana riagge 2004	drivers age 16	no change	per capita fatal/injury crash rate
			drivers age 16-17	-9%	proportion of night crashes
			amere age 10 17	-14%	proportion of crashes with pass. under 20
				, ,	FF
Connecticut	1997	Ulmer et al. 2001	drivers age 16-18	-22%	per capita casualty crash rate
Florida	1996	Ulmer et al. 2000	drivers age 15-17	-9%	per capita casualty crash rate
rionaa	1000	Office Ct al. 2000	age 15	-19%	per dupita dustianty order rate
			age 16	-11%	
			age 17	-7%	
Kentucky	1998	Agent and Digmon 2000	drivers age 16-18	-33%	number of crashes
Remucky	1990	Agent and Pigman 2000	unvers age 10-10	-34%	number of fatal crashes
				-28%	number of injury crashes
				-32%	per driver crash rate
Michigan	1007	Chang at al. 2001	drivers ago 16	250/	nor conito orach rate
Michigan	1997	Shope et al. 2001	drivers age 16	-25% -24%	per capita crash rate per capita injury crash rate
Michigan	1997	Elliot and Shope 2003	drivers age 16	-25%	per capita crash rate
				-24%	per capita single vehicle crash rate
Michigan	1997	Shope et al. 2004	drivers age 16	-29%	per capita crash rate
				-44%	per capita fatal crash rate
				-38%	per capita fatal plus non-fatal injury rate
				-38%	per capita non-fatal injury rate
North Carolina	1997	Foss et al. 2001	drivers age 16	-23%	per capita crash rate
				-57%	per capita fatal crash rate
				-28%	per capita injury crash rate
				-23%	per capita non-injury crash rate
				-19%	per driver crash rate
Ohio	1999	Dept. of Public Safety	drivers age 16-17	-60%	per capita crash rate
			•	-69%	per capita fatal crash rate
				-59%	per capita injury crash rate
				-60%	per capita non-injury crash rate
				-23%	per driver crash rate
				-24%	per driver fatal crash rate
				-21%	per driver injury crash rate
				-23%	per driver non-injury crash rate
Utah	1000 2001	Hyde et al. 2005	drivers age 16	-5%	per capita crash rate

comparing 1997 to 2001. The reduction in fatal or severe injury crash rates for females was approximately twice that of males in both post-GDL years. Significant reductions were also found for all crash subtypes including struck object (29% and 20% comparing 1997 to 2000 and 2001, respectively), multiple vehicle (22% and 17% comparing 1997 to 2000 and 2001, respectively), and non-collision (37% and 28% comparing 1997 to 2000 and 2001, respectively). Minor injury crash rates were significantly lower, with a 13% reduction, comparing 1997 to 2000, and a 10% reduction, comparing 1997 to 2001. This reduction was more noticeable in 16-year-old drivers (23% and 20% comparing 1997 to 2000 and 2001, respectively) than 17 year olds (6% and 3% comparing 1997 to 2000 and 2001, respectively).

For both fatal or severe injury and minor injury crash rates, a greater reduction was found during the hours of night restricted driving – approximately a 35% reduction for fatal or severe injury for both post-GDL years and a 13-21% reduction for minor injury.

Cooper, Gillen, and Atkins (2004) compared the per capita crash rates of 16-year-old drivers pre-GDL (1996) with two post-GDL years (1999-2000). They found a 19% reduction in involved and at-fault fatal and injury crash rates, comparing 1996 to 1999. This reduction was approximately 26% comparing 1996 to 2000. Using time series analysis, a temporary and permanent effect was found on the number of at-fault crashes, translating into a 17% reduction.

Looking at the restrictions, a 21% decline in per capita crash rates was found during curfew hours (comparing 1996 to 1999) and a 26% reduction comparing 1996 to 2000. A further regression analysis showed a significant reduction of about 25% in the average number of teen passengers carried by drivers age 16 in crashes after GDL introduction.

In contrast to the three evaluations described above, Masten and Hagge (2004) found no overall effect of California's program on the per capita crash rates of 15-17 year old drivers. Using time series analyses, comparing 54 months pre-GDL (January 1994 to June 1998) with 54 months post-GDL (July 1998 to December 2001), no temporary or permanent changes in fatal/injury per capita rates were observed. This was the case even after removing shared variability with an adult series, correcting for the transition effect (i.e., an increase in the number of drivers obtaining their learner's permit just prior to GDL introduction), and moving the transition point, which marks the time of GDL introduction, by 6 months to one full year ahead. The same was true for a separate analysis using only 16-year-old drivers.

The sudden-permanent intervention model was significant for the hours of the night driving restriction, six months and one year following GDL introduction. This indicated an approximate 9% sudden reduction in fatal/injury crashes associated with the night driving restriction. Also, the gradual-permanent intervention model was significant for the passenger restriction, six months and one year following GDL introduction. This suggested about a 14% reduction in fatal/injury crashes associated with the passenger restriction.



Connecticut. The safety effect of the mandatory extended learner's permit, one component of graduated licensing, which was implemented in Connecticut in 1997, was evaluated (Ulmer et al. 2001). They found that the per-capita casualty crash rate among 16-year-old drivers, declined by 22%, relative to the rate among 25 to 54-year-old drivers – a statistically significant change.

Florida. The per capita casualty crash rates among 15- to 17-year-old drivers before the implementation of the Florida graduated licensing program were compared to those after the program was in place, relative to the experience of 15- to 17-year-old drivers in Alabama over a similar time frame (Ulmer et al. 2000). The authors found that there was a significant 9% reduction in the casualty involvement rate of 15 to 17-year-old drivers in Florida during 1997, the first full year of graduated licensing. The greatest reduction occurred among 15 year olds (a 19% reduction), followed by 16 year olds (an 11% reduction) and then 17 year olds (a 7% reduction). There were no significant changes for any of the age groups in Alabama, the comparison state. (See also McCartt et al. 2001 for related data on the effects of the Florida program on attitudes and behaviours.)

Further comparisons of the actual and projected casualty crash involvements among 15-17 year olds revealed that nighttime (11:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.) crash involvements declined more than daytime crashes (17% and 7%, respectively).

Kentucky. Agent et al. (2001) evaluated the impact of the partial graduated licensing program implemented in Kentucky in 1996. They compared the number of collisions as well as the per-driver collision rates of 16 year olds, older teens, and adults, in periods before and after the new law. To control for the effects of changes in the number of drivers, the authors compared per-driver crash rates for the various age groups. The per-driver collision rate for 16-year-old drivers after the introduction of GDL was 32% lower than it was prior to its introduction. Similar reductions were not observed among older control groups.

Of some importance, the lower per-driver crash rates among 16 year olds were due to an 83% decrease in the number of their collisions occurring during the first six months after their sixteenth birthday – i.e., when they were in the extended learner stage of the new program. By contrast, drivers in the intermediate stage – i.e., those age 16.5 to 17 – actually had a 3% increase in the number of crashes following GDL. They also found no long-term impact of the program for 17-and 18-year-old drivers.

The authors conclude that there was no long-term reduction in crash rates associated with the GDL program but they also emphasized that Kentucky has only a partial GDL program and there is a need to upgrade it by limiting the number and age of passengers, limiting unsupervised nighttime driving (after 9 p.m. or 10 p.m.), and requiring teens to be violation-free for a period of time before being allowed to graduate to the next licence stage. They indicate that such improvements might yield a longer-term safety impact.

Michigan. The GDL program implemented in Michigan in 1997 is also being evaluated (Shope et al. 2001; Elliott and Shope 2003; Shope and Mohnar 2004). In a report on initial findings from the ongoing study, the authors found that, after adjusting for population-wide trends, the overall per-capita collision rate of 16-year-old drivers declined significantly by 25% between 1996 and 1999. There were also significant reductions over this period in non-fatal injury crashes (a 24% reduction) as well as in crashes occurring at night (a 53% reduction between midnight and 5 a.m.), during the evening (a 21% reduction between 9 p.m. and 12 a.m.) and during the day (a 24% reduction between 5 a.m. and 9 p.m.). Although the per-capita fatal crash rate also declined from 1996 to 1999, this difference was not statistically significant.

Elliot and Shope (2003) continued the investigation by using time series analysis (Bayesian Changepoint Model) on the rates (per 1,000 16-year-old population) of all crashes, night crashes, and single-vehicle crashes, to determine if the trends found previously, using relative risk, were maintained. They concluded that GDL had a substantial effect on the crash rates of all crashes such that, during the first 12 to 18 months following GDL implementation, the crash rate declined by 25%. However, they suggest that the previous findings on single-vehicle crash rates are not as certain. The approximate 30% reduction in single-vehicle crashes following GDL implementation is likely to be closer to 24%. In addition, the decline in nighttime crash rates, which was estimated to be approximately 50%, is partly due to a downward trend that began in 1995/1996 and its rate was largely unaffected by the implementation of GDL.

In a more recent report from their ongoing evaluation, Shope and Molnar (2004) compared per capita crash rates of 16-year-old drivers before GDL implementation (1996) with four post-GDL years (1998-2001). A significant reduction in crash rates was found for all post-GDL years. Using 2001 as the most recent comparison year, a significant reduction in crash risk was found for all crashes (29%) and all crash subtypes including fatal (44%), fatal plus non-fatal injury (38%), non-fatal injury (38%), multi-vehicle (32%), and single vehicle (32%). Even after adjusting for population-wide changes in crash reduction, using a comparison group of drivers over the age of 24, the crash rate reduction was still significantly lower post-GDL (19% reduction for all crashes using the comparison of 2001 to 1996). This reduction differed little by gender such that crash rates for young men remained approximately 15-20% higher than for young women.

With respect to the night driving restriction, the greatest reduction in crash rates (59% for the 2001 comparison year) was found for the hours of midnight to 4:59 a.m. Significant reductions were also observed for day and evening categories across all four post-GDL years. Significant reductions in crash rates were also found for all crashes involving passengers, regardless of number (34-46% reduction). However, when compared to older drivers, the crash rate of 16 year olds was approximately three times higher across all four post-GDL years.

North Carolina. In a preliminary evaluation of the graduated licensing program implemented in North Carolina in 1997, Foss et al. (2001) reported that the per-capita crash rate of 16-year-old drivers declined by 23% (or by 27% adjusting for the overall crash trend among drivers age 25-54). Per-capita crash rates declined for all levels of severity among 16-year-old



drivers after the new program was implemented – fatal crashes declined by 57%, injury crashes by 28%, and non-injury crashes by 23%. Reductions were also observed for nighttime crashes (a 43% reduction between 9 p.m. and 5 a.m.) and daytime crashes (a decrease of 20%).

Ohio. The preliminary evaluation of the graduated licensing program implemented in Ohio in 1997 found that, after adjusting for changes in the crash rates of the control group (drivers age 25-54), both the per-capita and per-driver crash rates of teens licensed under the new program were lower than those of teens licensed under the old program (Department of Public Safety 2001). The overall per-driver crash rate of teen drivers in the program, relative to drivers age 25-54, was 23% lower than the rate for teen drivers not in the program. Similar reductions were observed for collisions of all severities – fatal (a decrease of 24%), injury (a 21% decrease), and property damage only (a decrease of 23%) – as well as for alcohol-related collisions – a 27% decrease in the alcohol-related crash rate.

Utah. Hyde, Cook, Knight, and Olson (2005) used the crash rates (per 1,000 licensed drivers) of 16-year-old drivers pre- and post-GDL implementation to investigate the effectiveness of Utah's GDL program. They found that the overall crash rate was reduced by 5%. However, using time series analysis and accounting for the already decreasing trend in 16-year old involved crashes, this difference was found to be marginal. They also did not find a significant difference in the nighttime crash rates following the implementation of nighttime driving restrictions, nor did they find any differences following the implementation of passenger restrictions. There was a positive linear trend in seatbelt usage, such that post-GDL drivers wore their seatbelts 94% of the time, compared to 87% pre-GDL. There was no difference in the rate of crashes by injury severity.

Key Features

The fundamental principles on which GDL is based are relatively straightforward – initially create a low risk driving environment for the novice through a set of restrictions; then ease the novice into more demanding situations as they mature and gain experience. In practice, the application of these principles has resulted in a diversity of programs that vary in terms of the conditions and restrictions that are applied to the new driver. Despite this variability, it has been consistently shown that GDL programs are effective. However, less is known about the effectiveness of the wide range of specific elements in GDL programs, and this certainly hampers efforts to provide advice regarding how the "best" program should be designed.

Nonetheless, the safety value of a few key features of GDL programs – e.g., zero BAC, night restriction, supervision, no passengers, driver education -- has received at least some research attention and this is discussed below. Based on the strength of the scientific evidence, the merits of including the condition or restriction in a GDL program is considered. Where direct evidence is lacking, the indirect evidence and the rationale for the measure are considered as a basis to support or reject it.

Knowledge and Skill Tests

Tests are designed to ensure that people are competent to drive and that they are aware of safe driving practices and road law. Basically, the test(s) sets the minimum standards for "safe" driving and provides a means to ascertain if someone has achieved that standard and can, therefore, graduate from the learner or intermediate stage.

Although knowledge and skill tests are commonplace in GDL programs, few jurisdictions have determined whether or not they are effective in screening out drivers who are not competent. Early evaluations of the effectiveness of skill tests have largely produced conflicting findings. In a review of these studies, MacDonald (1987) as well as McPherson and McKnight (1981) concluded that "the road test lacked sufficient predictive validity to support their use as a screening device in determining who will be permitted to drive".

A more recent investigation of the Driving Performance Evaluation Road Test, a much more reliable test than the standard drive test in California, failed to find any reduction in accident involvement or traffic law violations resulting from the implementation of the program (Gebers et al. 1998).

By contrast, unlike most other driver performance measures or road tests, a computerized test developed and used in Victoria, Australia – the Hazard Perception Test – was able to predict those novice drivers likely to be involved in casualty crashes. Congdon (1999) found that novices with very low scores on the test had higher crash involvement than novices with average and high scores.

In summary, the rationale for knowledge and skill testing is compelling but traditional tests have largely failed to discriminate adequately between safe and unsafe drivers. The need is to improve the quality and safety potential of the tests, for example, by focusing more on hazard perception, and this is in fact the direction that has been pursued recently in several jurisdictions both in terms of computerized tests and on-road tests that require learners to identify potential hazards – e.g., British Columbia, New Zealand, and New South Wales, Australia (Mayhew et al. under review).

Supervision

Research shows that supervised driving is a relatively safe activity – i.e., few novice drivers crash when they are driving under supervision (Williams et al. 1997; Mayhew et al. 2001). Recent evaluations of GDL also suggest that declines in collisions occurred mostly during the learner stage, when beginners are driving under supervision (e.g., Mayhew et al. 2003). This suggests that a longer learner phase – e.g., 12-months rather than 6-months minimum duration – has safety benefits because it delays licensure and provides an opportunity for driving practice and skill development under supervision (McKnight and Peck 2002).



Zero or Low BAC Limits

Evaluations of those countries that have included lower alcohol limits as part of their licensing system generally show that the limits are effective in reducing collisions (Mayhew and Simpson 1990). Research has also shown that low BAC limits reduce the likelihood of collision among young drivers (Simpson and Mayhew 1992; Mayhew and Simpson 1999). And, as reviewed in the previous section, several of the evaluations of GDL programs in jurisdictions with zero or low BAC limits found reductions in alcohol-related collisions among novice drivers (see Boase and Tasca 1998; Bouchard et al. 2000; Ohio Dept. of Public Safety 1999). Accordingly, a zero BAC limit applied during the learner and intermediate stages appears warranted.

A zero or low BAC limit for the supervisor in the vehicle of a learner or novice driver also makes sense because they are in the vehicle not only to monitor and influence the learners practice driving but also to take over the driving, if necessary. However, the impact of the provision has not been studied.

No Passengers

Research shows that unsupervised driving with teenage passengers increases crash risk compared with driving alone (Preusser et al. 1998; Williams 2000, 2001, 2003; Chen et al. 2001; Williams and Ferguson 2002; Lin and Fearn 2003). Fatal crash risk has been found to increase with every additional teenage passenger in the vehicle; the presence of three or more passengers increases the risk of fatal crash for young drivers four times what their risk is when driving alone.

Looking specifically at the effects of teenage passengers on young drivers, Chen, Braver, Baker, and Li (2001) used two U.S. national databases to investigate the differences in road user death rates of young drivers carrying passengers, who were less than 20 years old, compared to rates when they were driving alone. This data year (1995) predates any implementation of a passenger restriction in the United States. They found that the road user death rate for 16-17 year old drivers carrying young passengers was approximately three times that for the same age group not carrying passengers and about four times that of 18-year-old drivers carrying any passengers. The researchers estimated that if 16-17 year old drivers were restricted from carrying passengers younger than 20, given varying compliance rates, there would be 7-42% fewer road user deaths. Similar reductions of between 8% and 44% were predicted for 16 year olds. Even if compliance was only 50% among the 16-17 year old group, the researchers predicted a reduction of 15-22%.

As described in the previous section, evaluations of the GDL programs in California and Michigan, jurisdictions that have passenger restrictions, reported reductions in teenage crashes involving passengers (Automobile Club 2001; Cooper et al. 2004; Masten et al. 2004; Shope and Molnar 2004). Begg, Stephenson, and Langley (2001) have also found that, in New Zealand, compared to pre-GDL drivers, restricted license drivers had a smaller proportion of crashes involving passengers of all ages.

Cooper, Atkins, and Gillen (2005) also conducted a recent study looking at the effects of the specific GDL restriction involving teenage passengers in California. They found that the percentage of 16-year-old drivers involved in at-fault collisions while carrying teenage passengers was significantly higher than that for 16-year-old drivers involved in not-at-fault collisions, carrying teenage passengers. This was also true for the age groups 17-19 and 20-24. The difference was significant with the age group 25-54, but in the opposite direction, suggesting that the presence of teenage passengers promoted safer driving in this older age group. These trends are the same when the average number of teenage passengers in vehicles involved in crashes was used as the dependent variable. Regression analysis revealed that the average number of teenage passengers in vehicles driven by 16 year olds involved in crashes, significantly decreased following GDL introduction. This was not true for 20-24 year old drivers.

Accordingly, a restriction on passengers, particularly teen passengers, in the vehicles of teenage novices, at least in the critical intermediate stage when the novice is driving unsupervised, is supported by the research evidence.

Night Driving Restriction

Night driving is more difficult and more dangerous than driving during daylight hours for drivers of all ages. Research has established that night driving is especially risky for young beginners and there is substantial evidence that night curfews are effective in reducing crashes (Williams and Preusser 1997; Preusser et al. 1984; Williams 2003; Lin and Fearn 2003). Night curfews may even have a beneficial impact on collisions in non-restricted hours (McKnight et al. 1993).

As described in the previous section, several evaluations of GDL programs in Nova Scotia, Ontario, California, Florida, and Michigan -- jurisdictions with night restrictions in the learner and/or intermediate stages -- have found reductions in collisions during nighttime hours (Mayhew et al. 2003, Boase and Tasca 1998; Rice et al. 2004; Cooper et al. 2004; Masen et al. 2004; Ulmer et al. 2000; Shope et al. 2001; Shope and Molnar 2004; Foss et al. 2001). Begg, Stephenson, and Langley (2001) have also found that, in New Zealand, compared to pre-GDL drivers, restricted licence drivers had a smaller proportion of nighttime crashes during curfew hours. Research also suggests that the earlier the hour the night restriction is applied, the greater the safety benefit (Foss and Goodwin 2003; Williams and Mayhew 2004).

Accordingly, limiting the unsupervised driving by novices during the nighttime is a restriction that is strongly supported by research.

Driver Education/Training

A few GDL programs mandate driver education; some allow novices to graduate sooner if they successfully complete driver education – i.e., driver education permits a "time discount".

However, research has shown that driver education/training programs have not reduced crashes – TIRF (Mayhew and Simpson 1996) reviewed the evaluation research in three countries –



Canada, the United States and Europe – and found no compelling evidence that training is associated with reductions in collisions. These findings are consistent with much of the evidence on the effectiveness of formal instruction (Mayhew and Simpson 2002).

Therefore, the practice of reducing the length of time in the GDL program for successfully completing a driver education course is questionable at best. Even worse, a few recent studies of GDL programs in Ontario and Nova Scotia, reviewed in the previous section, show that "time discounts" for novice drivers may actually have a detrimental safety impact. Formally trained novices who received the "time discount" were found to have a much higher crash rate than untrained novices who did not (Boase and Tasca 1999; Mayhew et al. 2003).

Similar results were found in an evaluation of the GDL program in British Columbia. (Wiggins 2004). The crash rates of GDL drivers, who had submitted a Declaration of Completion (DOC) of an ICBC-approved training course, were higher than the crash rates of those who had not submitted a DOC. Following adjustments for age and gender, crash rates were higher in both the learner and novice stage. Driver education groups were further broken down to include: (1) ICBC-approved course with time credit, (2) ICBC-approved course with no time credit, (3) not an ICBC-approved course, and (4) none. Using these groupings and considering any crash, as well as liable crashes, during the first 6 months of Novice licensure, it was found that those who had completed an ICBC-approved course and received the time credit had a higher crash rate. Because driving exposure could be a factor in crash risk, exposure information was obtained by means of a survey in November 2003. This included exposure during the first month, first 6 months, weekday hours and kms, and weekend hours and kms. Looking again at the different driver education groups and controlling for age, gender, and driving exposure, crash risk – for both liable crashes and any crash – was still higher for those who completed an ICBC-approved course than for those who had no formal training or had taken a driver education course that was not ICBC-approved.

The author proposed a number of reasons for these findings. They include: (1) passing too quickly through the learner stage, (2) motivation for taking driver education was the time credit, (3) lack of maturity and experience, and (4) personality factors, though not investigated in this study.

Given these consistent findings there is no justification for offering a "time discount" for taking driver education. Indeed, the evidence suggests that doing so increases rather than decreases the risk for novice drivers. This is not to suggest that jurisdictions should not encourage driver education and training because it can be a superior way to learn basic driving skills and it can contribute to the beginner's on-road experience – i.e., practice. But novices should not be allowed to graduate sooner from the GDL program if they take driver education and training (Williams 2004; Mayhew and Simpson 2003).

Certified Practice

A few jurisdictions now require parents to certify that a certain number of hours – e.g., 40 to 50 hours – have been driven under supervision. Although the safety benefits of certified driving practice have not been evaluated, research has demonstrated the value of more practice driving. In this regard, Gregersen (1997) found that in Sweden, novices with 126 hours of supervised driving experience had a 35% lower crash risk than those with about 40 hours. Requiring a minimum amount of practice hours is also consistent with the rationale of graduated licensing – i.e., allow the novice to gain driving experience under low risk conditions.

Advanced Exit Tests

A number of jurisdictions have introduced, or are considering, advanced "exit" on-road or computer-based skill tests for novice drivers. Such tests are administered prior to leaving the GDL program to ensure the novice has actually driven and acquired the needed experience and skills. These advanced tests typically assess higher-order safe driving skills, such as, hazard perception.

The use of advanced testing is so recent that evidence of its effectiveness in reducing crashes of young drivers is not yet available. However, a hazard perception computer test initially developed as an exit test but used as an entry test to move from a learner stage to an intermediate stage in Victoria, Australia, has been found to be predictive of safe driving (Congdon 1999).

As observed by Mayhew and Simpson (1999), advanced testing may hold promise for predicting collision risk among young drivers and could, therefore, serve as a means for determining who requires remedial action or, in the case of graduated licensing, who needs to be in the system longer.

Other Practices

A few GDL programs, all in Australia, have a high-powered vehicle restriction and a speed restriction. The rationale for both restrictions relates to the increased crash risk associated with "fast" powerful vehicles and higher speeds and the need to ensure the novice gains experience in vehicles and at speeds that provide a greater margin of safety (Drummond and Torpey 1984; Drummond and Healey 1986; VicRoads 1990). However, no research has been conducted to assess the safety benefits of a high-powered vehicle restriction. One study suggests that a speed restriction is not effective – i.e., removal of a speed restriction was not associated with an increase in crashes among novice drivers (VicRoads 1988).

Although no jurisdiction restricts the age or size of the vehicle operated by novice drivers, a few researchers have suggested that parents should be better informed about the importance of vehicle selection, both in terms of crash risk and occupant protection (Ferguson 2003; Senserrick



and Whelan 2003). This issue has been raised because research suggests that teenagers more often drive vehicles that are less safe – i.e., smaller and older. This vehicle choice can increase their crash risk as well as their chance of injury in the event of a crash (Cammisa et al. 1999; Williams et al. 1987).

The GDL program in Ontario has a highway restriction in the learner stage – e.g., no driving on expressways or freeways. This was introduced largely based on the belief that such roads are more demanding and hazardous for inexperienced drivers because of high traffic volume, mixed vehicle types, and multiple lanes. The effect of prohibiting learners from travelling on certain road types has been evaluated in Ontario. Boase and Tasca (1998) found that this restriction reduced collisions on highways by 61%.

Although not included in their GDL programs when implemented, a few U.S. jurisdictions have, or are now considering, restricting mobile phone use by teenage drivers. The National Safety Council has also endorsed a ban on cell phone use for all drivers younger than age 18. The rationale for doing so is largely based on the assumption that inexperienced drivers will be more distracted by cell phone use than experienced drivers. In this regard, Caird et al. (2004) recently conducted a meta-analysis on the results of studies on the effects of cell phones on driving behaviour and crash risk. In regards to age effects, they report there is some evidence younger drivers have a higher crash risk but this is only based on three studies, one of which found that only drivers between 25-29 years of age had a higher crash risk while using a cell phone (Lam 2002). They also report that in no study was there a significant interaction of age and cell phone use on driving performance and, that young drivers generally showed a shorter delay in response or reaction time than older drivers when cell phones were in use. In another recent study designed to better simulate real driving conditions and driving while using a phone, Shinar et al. (2005) found that the deleterious effects of conversing on the cell phone are very real initially, but may not be as severe with continued practice at the dual task, especially for drivers who are not old. They report that practice diminishes or completely eliminates the differences in driving performance between the no-distraction condition and phone use for both young and older drivers. Moreover, older drivers aged 60-71 years, in general, performed worse than the younger drivers; experienced young drivers (ages 30-33) performed better than novice young drivers (mostly 18 years of age).

The above findings from the limited research suggest that cell phones may not be especially problematic for novice drivers, compared to older drivers and that practice may diminish the negative effects of conversing on cell phones. Moreover, Ferguson (2003) has observed that many devices already exist in vehicles, such as radios and CD players, that can provide distractions to drivers and "manufacturers are incorporating additional technologies that may require interaction while driving, such as navigation devices" (p. 75). And in this regard, there is evidence from one study that young drivers aged 17-25 years were more distracted by turning the radio than in other conditions such as placing a cell phone call or carrying on a cell phone conversation (McKnight 1993). These issues need further research and evaluation before an

evidence-based recommendation can be made regarding the value of adding a cell-phone restriction to graduated licensing programs.

Summary

Evidence that graduated licensing does have safety benefits is growing. Indeed, almost all evaluations conducted to date have reported positive benefits, with crash reductions ranging from 4% to over 60%. The magnitude of the crash reductions has varied considerably for two primary reasons. First, although jurisdictions have adopted some version of graduated driver licensing, the specific features of their programs also differ. Given the diversity of programs, it is not surprising that the magnitude of the crash reductions has also varied. Second, studies used a variety of research designs and analytic procedures to evaluate the safety effectiveness of graduated driver licensing, so findings from one study are not directly comparable to another.

Taken together, however, the consistent direction of the findings and the significant positive effects found in studies that have used sophisticated and solid research designs underscore that graduated driver licensing is an effective safety program. Importantly, the evaluations in Canada, where graduated licensing applies to all beginners, also demonstrate that safety benefits extend to novice drivers of all ages, not just young ones.

Although few evaluations have been conducted on the safety impact of specific conditions and restrictions in graduated licensing programs, there is evidence that some of them do reduce crashes. In cases where no studies have been conducted, there is at least a strong rationale that the condition or restriction should have safety benefits.

The features that can be supported based on the scientific evidence or, in the absence of research, on logical grounds include: no driving at night; zero or low BAC limits; no passengers; improved tests, including exit testing; supervision; improved driver education/training; and certified practice.

The scientific evidence argues against the use of "time discounts" for driver education/training. As well, given the limited evidence and/or lack of a compelling rationale grounds, other restrictions related to high-powered vehicles, speed, vehicle age and size, road type, and cell phone use, do not appear warranted at this time. Much more research is needed, especially to clarify the effects of distraction, such as by cell phones and other in-vehicle devices, on the driving performance and crash risk among novice drivers.

Best Practices

Graduated licensing has been shown to be more effective in reducing crashes among new drivers than other licensing approaches. Presumably this is because it provides the opportunity for beginners to gain experience and proficiency under low risk conditions. It also addresses agerelated factors by minimizing the opportunities for young beginners to engage in risky behaviours or encounter risky situations – e.g., through the use of night restrictions, low or zero BAC, and lengthy periods of supervised driving. As well, such programs insulate young beginners from risky conditions, and in doing so, allow the beneficial effects of increased maturity to be realized by delaying full licensure. Graduated licensing is also attractive because it can be tailored to address unique economic, social, geographic and political conditions within a jurisdiction. Most importantly, graduated licensing has been shown to have impressive safety benefits. In fact, Hedlund et al. (2003) has even gone so far as to suggest that no additional research is needed to justify the need for graduated licensing.

Graduated licensing systems can and do vary substantially in their operational features – e.g., in terms of the restrictions selected, how they are applied and to whom, over what period of time, what sanctions are applied to violators, and so on. This flexibility is an attractive feature of graduated licensing, because it can be tailored to the particular needs of a jurisdiction. However, in designing a graduated licensing system, it is critical that its features are true to the basic prevention principle of providing opportunities to obtain driving experience under conditions that minimize exposure to risk. In addition, the elements of the system should be based, to the extent possible, on scientific evidence and proven effectiveness.

In this regard, it is not yet clear which of the structural features of the program contribute most to the observed reductions in collisions. For example, does the empirical evidence support the need for both the lengthier learner and intermediate stage? A partial answer to this question has been provided by the findings from a few studies (Mayhew et al. 2002; Wiggins 2004) cited earlier, which found that most of the crash reductions occur during the learner stage. As well, it is not yet clear which of the many restrictions imposed on drivers during the learner and/or intermediate stages of graduated licensing are the most cost-effective – e.g., passenger restrictions, night restrictions? However, research suggests that specific restrictions typically included in programs contribute to reductions in collisions – e.g., supervision at all times, no unsupervised driving at night, zero BAC limits. Although research is lacking for other restrictions, such as certified driving practice, these measures are consistent with the rationale of graduated driver licensing.

Until further evaluations and studies are undertaken and completed, it is difficult to identify all the optimal requirements and features of GDL. However, the review of programs and scientific evidence on key features in this report provide at least some guidance for recommending best practices for GDL in Canada and that is the purpose of this report.

Importantly, a few of the GDL programs in Canada already have in place some of the best practices we recommend, and their programs have been shown to reduce collisions of novice drivers. However, no GDL program in Canada has in place all of the best practices, and, consequently, are not likely maximizing the full safety benefits of GDL. Although it is unlikely, due to political, economic and other reasons, that a jurisdiction will adopt all of the recommended best practices, hopefully they will see the potential safety benefits that can accrue through system improvements and make some important changes.

Although this report does focus on Canada, the recommendations also have relevance to countries elsewhere because no jurisdiction includes all the best practices.

A central and fundamental issue is whether GDL should apply to all novices or just those who are young. Certainly, both groups are at risk because they are inexperienced; young beginners are at even greater risk owing to the additional influence of age-related factors, such as peer pressure and thrill seeking. Accordingly, jurisdictions in Canada that have already adopted GDL programs have applied it to all beginners – this practice is to be encouraged, especially since evaluations have shown that the collision reductions from these GDL programs extend to novice drivers of all ages. For the same reasons, New Zealand, whose GDL program originally applied only to drivers under the age of 25, has extended its program to all novice drivers, regardless of age.

GDL is by definition multi-staged, and research has clearly demonstrated the safety value of this approach over more conventional ones. Accordingly, most GDL programs include a multi-stage system that has, at a minimum, a learner stage and an intermediate stage before graduation to a full licence.

Learner Stage

The recommended best practices for the learner stage are listed in Table 5 and described briefly below.

- Minimum entry age. The minimum entry age should be 16, which is already the case in most GDL programs in Canada.
- **Entry requirements**. To enter the GDL program, beginners should pass a vision test and a knowledge test on the rules of the road and safe driving practices. Parental consent should be required for beginners under age 19.
- □ **Minimum duration**. The minimum duration should be 12 months, which is already the case in a few jurisdictions in Canada.
- **Maximum holding period**. The maximum holding period should be 24 months at which time the learner should be given a choice of remaining on the learner stage and being retested for knowledge, or advancing to the intermediate stage with appropriate testing.
- □ **Supervisory driver**. Driving should be permitted only under the supervision of a driver: who has been fully licensed for one year, is at least 25 years old, and is seated in the front seat.



- □ **Supervised driving**. During this critical "learning" stage, the novice should be required to have a minimum of 50 hours of practice, including 10 at night and 10 different hours in winter conditions, certified by their supervisor and/or parent.
- Driver education and training. Driver education and training should be available on a voluntary basis and encouraged because it appears to be the most efficient way to acquire basic operating skills as well as motivations and attitudes. Such programs also provide a means to practice and gain needed driving experience in low risk situations, under the supervision of a qualified instructor. However, until research has established the crash reduction benefits of driver education and training, it should not receive special status, such as being allowed to substitute for time in the system. Successful completion of driver education and training should not be recognized through a "time discount", because this practice has been shown to have negative safety consequences.
- BAC. A zero BAC limit should apply. The supervisor should also be restricted to a low or zero BAC.
- □ **Night restriction.** Driving should be prohibited at night, particularly during the high risk hours of midnight to 6:00 a.m.
- **Passenger restriction.** No passengers, with the exception of the supervisor.
- "L" sign/Plate. The beginner should be required to display an "L" sign/plate in/on the vehicle to alert other road users of their learner status and to assist police in enforcing GDL conditions.
- **Minimum exit age.** Given that the minimum entry age is 16 and the minimum duration of this stage is 12 months, the minimum exit age should be 17.
- Other features. GDL programs in Canada already apply penalties, such as fines, demerit points, and suspensions/prohibitions for violations of GDL conditions, and this practice should be continued. During both the learner and intermediate stages, learners should also be subject to lower demerit point thresholds than fully licensed drivers. When licence suspensions or driving prohibitions are applied, novices should have to begin the stage again and/or the stage should be extended by the duration of the suspension e.g., to ensure that the learner has the full amount of driving experience before progressing to the next stage. A crash- and violation-free record should be requirements for the duration of the stage to encourage learners to drive safely.

The list of recommended best practices is extensive and, as suggested previously, it is unlikely that any jurisdiction will adopt all of them. At a minimum, however, jurisdictions should adopt the following priority recommendations for the Learner Stage:

- A minimum duration of at least 12 months.
- A mandatory requirement for certified supervised practice of at least 50 hours.
- □ Eliminate the "time discount" for driver education.

Table 5

Best Practices in the Learner Phase

- Minimum entry age:
 - -- 16 years old
- Entry requirements:
 - -- Vision test
 - -- Knowledge test
 - -- Parental consent: yes, if under 19
- Minimum duration:
 - -- 12 months
- Maximum holding period:
 - -- 24 months
- Supervisory driver:
 - -- Fully licensed for one year at least 25 years or older
 - -- Seated in the front seat
- Minimum amount of supervised driving:
 - -- 50 (including 10 at night, 10 different hours in winter conditions)
- □ Driver education/training:
 - -- voluntary, segment one on basic skills
 - -- no time discount
- □ BAC:
 - -- Zero for novice
 - -- Zero BAC for supervisor
- Night restriction:
 - -- No driving between midnight and 6:00 a.m.
- Passenger restriction:
 - -- Only supervisor in front seat
- □ "L" sign/Plate:
 - -- mandatory
- Minimum exit age:
 - -- 17 years old
- Other Features
 - -- Penalties for GDL violations (e.g., fines, demerit points)
 - -- Lower demerit point threshold than for fully licensed drivers
 - -- Suspension/probation followed by return to start of stage
 - -- Extend stage by the duration of the suspension/prohibition



Intermediate Stage

The best practices for the intermediate stage are listed in Table 6 and described briefly below. ☐ **Minimum entry age.** The minimum entry age should be 17. □ Entry requirements. Performance-based, "entry" test(s), including a road test, and testing in hazard perception should be used to ensure the novice has achieved the minimum standards of safe driving and serve as incentives for them to acquire the skills and experience needed to pass these tests. Minimum duration. This stage should last a minimum of 12 months and preferably 24 months, which is already the case in a few jurisdictions in Canada. Maximum holding period. The maximum holding period should be 24 months at which time the novice would be given a choice of remaining in the intermediate stage and redoing the road test, or advancing to the full licence stage with appropriate testing. □ BAC. The zero BAC limit should continue in this stage. As well, when the novice is driving under supervision (e.g., during the restricted night hours), the supervisor should also have a low or zero BAC. **Night restriction.** Unsupervised driving would be permitted but not during riskier night hours - e.g., from 9:00 p.m. until 6:00 a.m. Driving to/from home and work or school or school events, and other approved purposes, could be exempt. Passenger restriction. During the first six to 12 months, for novice drivers under 20, teen passengers would not be allowed when the driver is unsupervised. After the first 6 to 12 months, teen passengers could be allowed during unsupervised driving. Immediate family members could be exempt from these restrictions. "N" sign/plate. The novice should be required to display an "N" sign/plate on/in the vehicle. Driver education. Integrating driver education and training could potentially enhance the effectiveness of GDL - e.g., basic skill-oriented course in the learner stage and a more

Exit requirements. Passing more advanced on-road and/or computerized exit tests that focus on higher-order skills such as hazard perception should be required to graduate to a full licence. In this regard, three jurisdictions in Canada already have an on-road exit test.

because their safety benefits remain unproven.

advanced safety-oriented course in the intermediate stage. However, efforts should be made to improve the form and content of existing education and training programs

- Minimum exit age. The recommended minimum exit age is 19 and this is based on a minimum entry age into GDL of 16 and minimum durations of 12 months in the learner stage and 24 months in the intermediate stage.
- Other features. Similar to the learner stage, novices should be subject to penalties for breaching GDL conditions, a lower demit point threshold, licence suspensions/driving prohibitions followed by a return to the start of the stage, and/or an extension of the stage by the duration of the suspension/prohibition. As well, the novice should be required to maintain a crash- and violation-free record to graduate to a full licence.

Table 6

Best Practices in Intermediate Stage

Minimum entry age: 17 years old
Entry requirements: Road test
Minimum duration: 24 months
Maximum holding period: 24 months
BAC: Zero for novice Zero for supervisor
Night restriction: Unsupervised driving from 9 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.
Passenger restriction: No teen passengers when driving unsupervised for novices under 20
"N" sign/Plate: mandatory
Driver education: voluntary, segment 2 on advanced safety skills no time discount
Exit requirements: Enhanced on-road exit test
Minimum exit age: 19 years
Other Features Penalties for GDL violations (e.g., fines, demerit points) Lower demerit point threshold than for fully licensed drivers Suspension/probation followed by return to start of stage

-- Extend stage by the duration of the suspension/prohibition

Among the above best practices for the intermediate stage are the following priority recommendations that should be adopted, at a minimum, to enhance the potential safety benefits of GDL:

- □ No unsupervised night driving from 9:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. (exemptions for home to work or school or school events, and other approved purposes).
- □ No teen passengers when driving unsupervised (for novice drivers under 20 years of age) during the first 6-months to 12-months (immediate family members exempt).

Summary

Despite the well-documented success of GDL across North America, significant numbers of novice drivers, particularly young ones, who are protected by the program, still crash. This situation can be remedied in part by implementing the best practices highlighted in this report, and at a minimum, putting in place the priority recommendations.

Although some of the best practices are already in place in a few GDL programs in Canada, none include all the priority recommendations. The research reviewed in this report clearly suggests that implementing or enhancing GDL programs with these best practices can result in further safety benefits.

References

- Agent, K.R., Pigman, J.G., Steenbergen, L.C., Pollack, S.H., Kidd, P.S., McCoy, C. 2002. Evaluation of the Kentucky graduated driver licensing system. Kentucky University, Lexington. 2 p. *Chronicle of the American Driver and Traffic Safety Education Association*, Vol. 50, No. 1, Winter 2002, p. 6-7. UMTRI-62762.
- Agent, K.R., Steenbergen, L., Pigman, J.G., Kidd, P.S., McCoy, C., Pollack, S.H. 2000. Impact of the partial Graduated License Program in Kentucky on teen motor vehicle crashes. *TRB Record*.
- Automobile Club of Southern California. 2000. California passenger deaths and injuries drop as graduated driver license law marks second anniversary. News release.
- Baldock, M., O'Conner, P., Giles, L. 2000. Graduated driver licensing in South Australia. Transport South Australia, Walkerville (Australia)/ Adelaide University, Road Accident Research Unit (Australia)/ Flinders University of South Australia, Adelaide. 66p. Report No. 1/2000. UMTRI-93513.
- Baughan, C. and Simpson, H. 2002. *Graduated Driver Licensing A Review of Some Current Systems*. Crawthorne, Berkshire: Transport Research Laboratory Limited.
- Begg, D.J., Langley, J.D., Reeder, A.I., Chalmers, D.J. 1995. The New Zealand graduated driver licensing system: Teenagers' attitudes towards and experiences with this car driver licensing system. *Injury Prevention* 1(3) 177-181.
- Begg, D. and Stephenson, A. 2003. Graduated driver licensing: The New Zealand experience. *Journal of Safety Research* 34(1): 99-106.
- Begg, D.J., Stephenson, S., Alsop, J., Langley, J. 2001. Impact of graduated driver licensing restriction on crashes involving young drivers in New Zealand. *Injury Prevention* 7(4): 292-296.
- Boase, P. and Tasca, L. 1998. *Graduated Licensing System Evaluation: Interim Report.* Toronto, Ontario: Safety Policy Branch, Ontario Ministry of Transportation.
- Bouchard, J., Dussault, C., Simard, R., Gendreau, M., Lemire, A.M. 2000. The Quebec Graduated Licensing System for novice drivers: A two-year evaluation of the 1997 reform. In: *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Alcohol, Drugs, and Traffic Safety, T-2000*, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Boughton, C., Carrick, C. Noonan, G. 1987. Development of graduated licensing in Australia. In: T. Benjamin (Ed.), *Young drivers impaired by alcohol and other drugs*. London, UK: Royal Society of Medicine Services.
- Cammisa, M.X., Williams, A.F., Leaf, W.A. 1999. Vehicles driven by teenagers in four states. *Journal of Safety Research* 30(1): 25-30.
- Carlson, W.L. 1973. Age, exposure and alcohol involvement in night crashes. *Journal of Safety Research* 5(4): 247-259.



- Chen, L-H., Braver, E.R., Baker, S.P. Li, G. 2001. Potential benefits of restrictions on the transport of teenager passengers by 16 and 17 year old drivers. *Injury Prevention* 7: 129-134.
- Congdon, P. 1999. VicRoads Hazard Perception Test, Can it Predict Accidents? Camberwell, Victoria: Australian Council for Education Research.
- Cooper, D., Akins, F., Gillen, D. 2005. Measuring the impact of passenger restrictions on new teenage drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 34:19-23.
- Cooper, D., Gillen, D., Akins, F. 2004. *Impacts of California's Graduated Licensing Law of 1998*. Berkeley, California: Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California at Berkeley.
- Coppin, R.S. 1977. *Driver licence and driver improvement program. A national review.* Australia: Department of Transport.
- Croke, A. and Wilson, W.B. 1977. *Model for Provisional (Graduated) Licensing of Young Novice Drivers*. Contract Number DOT -HS-6-01384. Springfield, Virginia: Technical Information Services.
- Dee, T.S., Grabowski, D.C., Morrisey, M.A. 2005. Graduated driver licensing and teen traffic fatalities. *Journal of Health Economics* 24: 571-589.
- Drummond, A., and Healy, D.J. 1986. The risk of driver crash involvement per distance travelled in metropolitan Melbourne. In: 13th Australian Road Research Board Conference Proceedings, 13, 149-159.
- Drummond, A., and Torpey, S.E. 1984. Young and/or Inexperienced Accident Study. Interim Report of the Young Driver Expert Group. RTA Report (GR). Melbourne, Victoria: Road Traffic Authority.
- Dussault, C., Letendre, P. 1999. Graduated licensing in Quebec: the search for balance between mobility and safety. In G. Dionne & C. Laberge-Nadeau (Eds): Automobile Insurance: Road Safety, New Drivers, Risks, Insurance Fraud and Regulation. Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers 1999: 195-200.
- Eavy, P., Edwards, M., Lee-Gosselin, M. 1987. *Group Interviews for Probationary Drivers with Low Violation Levels: An Evaluation of the Traffic Safety Impact.* Lansing, Michigan: Michigan Department of State.
- Elliott, M.R. and Shope, J.T. 2003. Use of a Bayesian changepoint model to estimate effects of graduated licensing program. *Journal of Data Science* 1: 43-63.
- Ferguson, S.A. 2003. Other high-risk factors for young drivers How graduated licensing does, doesn't or could address them. *Journal of Safety Research* 34(1): 71-78.
- Foss, R.D. and Evenson, K.R. 1999. Effectiveness of graduated driver licensing in reducing motor vehicle crashes. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 16: 47-56.
- Foss, R.D., and Evenson, K.R. 1998. Effectiveness of graduated driver licensing in reducing motor vehicle crashes. *American Journal of Prevention Medicine* 16(15): 47-56.
- Foss, R., Feaganes, J.R., Rodgman, E.A. 2001. Initial effects of Graduated Driver Licensing on 16-year-old driver crashes in North Carolina. *JAMA* 286(13): 1588-1592.



- Foss, R. and Goodwin, A. 2003. Enhancing the effectiveness of graduated licensing legislation. *Journal of Safety Research* 34(1): 79-84.
- Frith, W.J. and Perkins, W.A. 1992. The New Zealand graduated driver licensing system. National Road Safety Seminar papers 2: 256-78. Wellington, New Zealand: Land Transport.
- Gebers, M.A., Romanowicz, P.A., and Hagge, R.A., 1998. An Evaluation of the Impact of California's Driving Performance Evaluation Road Test on Traffic Accident and Citation Rates. RSS-98-181. Sacramento, California: California Department of Motor Vehicles.
- Gorys, P., Pang, H.C. Rosenbaum, R.M. 1983. *Preliminary Evaluation of the Probationary Driver Program in Ontario-A Study of the First Year Driving Records of New Drivers*. Toronto, Ontario: Ministry of Transportation and Communications.
- Gregersen, N.P. 1997. *Evaluation of 16-years Age Limit for Driver Training: First Report.* VTI Report 418A. Linkoping, Sweden: Swedish National Road and Transport Research Institute.
- Hagge, R.A. and Marsh, W.C. 1988. *An Evaluation of the Traffic Safety Impact of Provisional Licensing.* Sacramento, California: Department of Motor Vehicles, Research Report No. CAL-DMV-RSS-88-116.
- Hagge, R.A. and Marsh, W.C. 1986. *An Evaluation of the Traffic Safety Impact of Provisional Licensing: Interim Report.* Sacramento, California: Department of Motor Vehicles. Research Report No. CAL-DMV-RSS-86-108.
- Haworth, N. 1994. Young Driver Research Program: Evaluation of Australian Graduated Licensing Scheme. Canberra, ACT: Federal Office of Road Safety.
- Jones, B. 1994. The Effectiveness of Provisional Licensing in Oregon: An analysis of traffic safety benefits. *Journal of Safety Research* 25: 33-46.
- Hyde, L.K., Cook, L.J., Knight, S., Olson, L.M. 2005. Graduated Licensing in Utah: Is it effective? *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 45(2): 147-154.
- Langley, J.D., Wagenaar, A.C., Begg, D.J. 1996. An evaluation of the New Zealand Graduated Driver Licensing System. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 28: 139-146.
- Lin, M-L. and Fearn, K.T. 2003. The provisional license: Nighttime and passenger restrictions A literature review. *Journal of Safety Research* 34(1): 51-62.
- Lynam, D. and Twisk, D. 1995. *Car Driver Training and Licensing Systems in Europe.* Crowthorne, Berkshire: Transport Research Laboratory.
- MacDonald, W.A. 1987. Driving Performance Measures and Licence Tests: A Literature Review. CR57. Canberra, Australia: Department of Transport.
- Masten, S.V. and Hagge, R.A. 2004. Evaluation of California's graduated driver licensing program. *Journal of Safety Research* 35: 523-535.
- Mayhew, D.R. 2003. The learner's permit. Journal of Safety Research 34(1): 35-44.
- Mayhew, D.R. 2001. Safety effectiveness of graduated driver licensing in Canada and the United States. Paper presented at the *Novice Drivers Conference*, Wolfsburg, Germany, November.



- Mayhew, D.R. 1996. Licensing systems for controlling the risk of young motorists. In H. Simpson (Ed.) *New to the Road: Reducing the Risks for Young Motorists*. Los Angeles, California: UCLA., pp. 79-85.
- Mayhew, D., Christie, R., Nickel, W-R., and Simpson, H.M. in review. *Advanced Exit Tests in Graduated Driver Licensing Programs*. Toronto, Ontario: Ontario Ministry of Transportation.
- Mayhew, D.R., Donelson, A.C., Beirness, D.J., Simpson, H.M. 1986. Youth, alcohol and relative risk of crash involvement. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 18: 273-287.
- Mayhew, D.R. and Simpson, H.M. 2002. The safety value of driver education and training. *Injury Prevention* 8(Supp II): 3-8.
- Mayhew, D.R. and Simpson, H.M. 1999. *Youth and Road Crashes: Reducing the Risks from Inexperience, Immaturity and Alcohol.* Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Mayhew, D.R. and Simpson, H.M. 1996. *Effectiveness and Role of Driver Education in a Graduated Licensing System.* Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Mayhew, D.R., and Simpson, H.M. 1995. *The Role of Driving Experience: Implications for the Training and Licensing of New Drivers*. Toronto, Ontario: Insurance Bureau of Canada.
- Mayhew, D.R. and Simpson, H.M. 1990. *New to the Road. Young drivers and novice drivers: similar problems and solutions?* Ottawa. Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Desmond, K. Williams, A.F. 2003. Specific and long-term effects of Nova Scotia's graduated licensing program. *Traffic Injury Prevention* 4(2): 91-97.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Donelson, A.C. 1985. *Young Driver Accidents. In Search of Solutions*. Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Ferguson, S.A., Williams, A.F. 1999. Graduated Licensing in Ontario: A survey of parents. *Journal of Traffic Medicine* 27(3-4): 71-80.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Ferguson, S.A., Williams, A.F. 1998. Graduated Driver Licensing in Nova Scotia: A Survey of teenagers and parents. *Journal of Traffic Medicine* 26(1-2): 37-44.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Groseillers M., Williams, A.F. 2001. Impact of the graduated driver licensing program in Nova Scotia. *Journal of Crash Prevention and Injury Control* 2(3):179-192.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Pak, A. 2003. Changes in collision rates among novice drivers during the first months of driving. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 35(5): 683-691.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Williams, A.F., Desmond, K. 2002. *Specific and long-term effects of Nova Scotia's graduated licensing program.* Arlington, VA: Insurance Institute for Highway Safety.
- Mayhew, D.R., Singhal, D., Simpson, H.M., Beirness, D.J. 2004. *Deaths and Injuries to Young Canadians from Road Crashes*. Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- McCartt, A.T., Leaf, W.A., Farmer, C.M., Ferguson, S.A., Williams, A.F. 2001. Effects of Florida's graduated licensing program on the behaviors and attitudes of teenagers. *Journal of Safety Research* 32: 119-131.



- McKnight, A.J. 1986. Interventions in teenage drunk driving. Alcohol, Drugs and Driving 2(1): 7.
- McKnight, A.J., Hyle, P., Albrecht, L. 1983. *Youth License Control Demonstration Project.* National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Report No. DOT-HS-7-01765, National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.
- McKnight, A.J. and McKnight, A.S. 1993. The effect of cellular phone use upon driver attention. *Accident Analysis and Prevention 25: 257-265.*
- McKnight, A.J. and Peck, R.C. 2002. Graduated driver licensing: What works? *Injury Prevention* (Suppl II): ii32-ii38.
- McKnight, A.J., Tippetts, A.S., and Marques, P.R. 1990. *Provisional Driver License System for Follow-up Evaluation of Maryland Youth License Control Demonstration Project.* Washington, D.C.: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- McPherson, K. and McKnight, A.J. 1981. *Automobile On-Road Performance Tests. Volume 1: Final report.* DOT HS 806207. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Preusser, D.F., Ferguson, S.A., Williams, A.F. 1998. The effects of teenage passengers on the fatal crash risk of teenage drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 30(2): 217-222.
- Preusser, D.F., Williams, A.F., Lund, A., Zador, P.L. 1990. City Curfew Ordinances and Teenager Motor Vehicle Injuries. *Status Report*, 25(1). Arlington, Virginia: Insurance Institute for Highway Safety.
- Preusser, D.F., Williams, A.F., Zador, P.L. Blomberg, R.D. 1984. The effect of curfew laws on motor vehicle crashes. *Law and Policy Quarterly* 6: 115-128.
- Rice, T.M., Peek-Asa, C., Kraus, J.F. 2004. Effects of the California graduated licensing program. *Journal Safety Research* 35: 375-381.
- Rosenbaum, R., Hemsley, G. Duncan, D. 1985. Ontario's probationary driver program: Continuing evaluation. In: *Compte-Rendus de la Ivieme Conférence Canadienne Multidisciplinaire sur la sécurité routiere*, May 26-28, Montréal, Québec.
- Senserrick, T. and Whelan, M. 2003. *Graduated Driver Licensing: Effectiveness of Systems and Individual Components.* Victoria, Australia: Monash University Accident Research Centre.
- Shinar, D., Tractinsky, N., Compton, R. 2004. Effects of practice, age, and task demands, on interference from a phone task while driving. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 37: 315-326.
- Shope, J.T., and Molnar, L.J. 2004. Michigan's graduated licensing program: Evaluation of the first four years. *Journal of Safety Research* 35: 337-344.
- Shope, J.T., Molnar, L.J., Elliott, M.R., Waller, P.F. 2001. Graduated Driver Licensing in Michigan: Early impact on motor vehicle crashes among 16-year-old drivers. *JAMA* 286(13): 1599-1598.
- Simpson, H.M. 2003. The evolution and effectiveness of graduated licensing. *Journal of Safety Research* 34(1): 25-34.
- Simpson, H.M. (Ed.). 1996. New to the Road: Reducing the Risks for Young Motorists. Los Angeles, California: UCLA.

- Simpson, H.M. and Mayhew, D.R. 1992. *Reducing the Risks for New Drivers: A Graduated Licensing System for British Columbia*. Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Simpson, H.M. and Mayhew, D.R. 1987. Demographic trends and traffic casualties among youth. *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving* 3(3-4): 45-62.
- Simpson, H.M. and Mayhew, D.R. 1987. Youth and traffic accidents: Causes and prevention. *Canadian Family Physician* 33: 429-435.
- Sweedler, B.M. and Williams, A.F. 1995. The Case for and strategies to implement Graduated Licensing in the United States. In: *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety -- T'95*, Adelaide, Australia.
- Ulmer, R.G., Ferguson, S.A., Williams, A.F., Preusser, D.F. 2001. Teenage crash reduction associated with delayed licensure in Connecticut. *Journal of Safety Research* 32: 31-41.
- Ulmer, R.G., Preusser, D.F., Williams, A.F., Ferguson, S.A., Farmer, C.M. 2000. Effect of Florida's graduated licensing program on the crash rate of teenage drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 32(4): 527-532.
- VicRoads. 1990. Regulatory Impact Statement: Graduated Driver Licensing Scheme. Kew, Victoria: VicRoads.
- VicRoads. 1988. 80 Km/h Speed Limits for Probationary Drivers. Key, Victoria: VicRoads.
- Waller, P.P. 1974. The changing task of driver licensing. In: *Future Role of Driver Licensing in Highway Safety.* Washington, D.C.: Transportation Research Board.
- Waller, P.F. 1975. *Education for Driving. An Exercise in Self Delusion'*. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Highway Safety Research Center.
- Waller, P.F. 1989. A graduated licensing system for beginning drivers. In *Provisional Licensing Programs for Young Drivers*. DOT-HS 807 375. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 35-51.
- Waller, P.K., Olk, M.L., and Shope, J.T. 2000. Parental views and experience with Michigan's graduated licensing program. *Journal of Safety Research* 21: 9-15.
- Warren, R.A. and Simpson, H.M. 1976. *The Young Driver Paradox*. Ottawa, Ontario: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- Wiggins, S. 2004. *Graduated Licensing Program: Interim Evaluation Report Year 3.* Victoria, British Columbia: Insurance Corporation of British Columbia.
- Williams, A.F. 2003. Teenage drivers: Patterns of risk. Journal of Safety Research 34(1): 5-15.
- Williams, A.F. 2001. Teenage Passengers in Motor Vehicle Crashes: A Summary of Current Research. Arlington, Virginia: Insurance Institute of Highway Safety.
- Williams, A.F. 2000. North America's approach to the young driver problem. *Proceedings of the Novice Driver's Conference*, Department of Transport, Local Government and the Regions, UK.
- Williams A.F. 1999. Graduated licensing comes to the United States. *Injury Prevention 5: 133-135.*



- Williams, A.F. and Ferguson, S.A. 2002. Rational for graduated licensing and risks it should address. *Injury Prevention* 8(Suppl. II): 9-14.
- Williams, A.F., Ferguson, S.A., Leaf, W.A., Preusser, D.F. 1998. Views of parents of teenagers about graduated licensing. *Journal of Safety Research* 29(1): 1-7.
- Williams, A., Lund, A., Preusser, D.C. 1985. Night driving curfews in New York and Louisiana: Results of a questionnaire survey. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 17(6): 461-66.
- Williams, A. and Mayhew, D.R. 2004. *Graduated Licensing: A Blueprint for North America*. Arlington, Virginia: Insurance Institute for Highway Safety.
- Williams A.F., Nelson, L.A. Leaf, W.A. 2002. Responses to Teenagers and Their Parents to California's Graduated Licensing System. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 34: 835-842.
- Williams, A.F. and Preusser, D.F. 1997. Night restrictions for youthful drivers: A literature review and commentary. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 18: 334-345.
- Williams, A.F., Preusser, D.F., Ferguson, S.A., Ulmer, R.G. 1997. Analysis of the fatal crash involvements of 15-year-old drivers. *Journal of Safety Research* 28: 49-54.

Appendix A

GDL and Other Novice Driver Licensing Systems in Canada

British Columbia

Effective Date: August, 1998 - modified October 6, 2003

Learner Phase (Class 7L)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: yes, if under 19

Minimum duration:

 12 months (can be reduced to 9 months if ICBC-approved driver education course is passed)

Maximum holding period:

2 years

Supervisory driver:

25 years or older with a valid Class 1-5 driver's license

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

No driving between midnight and 5 am

Passenger restrictions:

Limit of 2 passengers, including supervisor

"L" sign/Plate:

Mandatory

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

2 to 6 (discretionary – instead of 15 to 19)

Suspension/Prohibition:

- Minimum penalty for violating any of GLP restrictions is a fine of \$109. If a driver gets four penalty points (usually 2 tickets) they can be prohibited from driving for one month. More than four points could lead to a longer prohibition. Violation of the zero-blood alcohol limit is 1) an immediate 12-hour suspension and 2) a one month driving prohibition (first violation) or 3) a one year prohibition (repeat violations). Besides facing penalties that apply only to new drivers, drivers in GLP are also subject to the regular penalties that apply to all drivers. The following chart outlines BC's penalties and associated points/fines
- http://www.icbc.com/Licensing/lic_fines_pen_fine_chart.html

Driver improvement actions:

See above

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 7N)

Entry requirements:

Road test: Class 7 road test

Minimum duration:

24 months

Maximum holding period:

5 years

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

None

Passenger restrictions:

 Limit of 1 passenger, unless accompanied by a supervisor, 25 years or older, with a valid Class 1-5 license (immediate family allowed with no supervisor)

"N" sign/Plate:

Mandatory

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

2 to 6 (discretionary – instead of 15 to 19)

Suspension/Prohibition:

- If a driving prohibition is received, the driver goes back to the beginning of the novice stage, losing all experience time
- See above (7L)

Driver improvement actions:

See above (7L)

Other features:

none

Exit requirements:

Class 5 road test

Minimum exit age:



Alberta

Effective Date: Since 1998 - New rules May 20, 2003

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

14 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

12 months

Maximum holding period:

none

Supervisory driver:

Fully licensed, at least 18 years old, and seated next to the driver

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

No driving between midnight and 5 am

Passenger restrictions:

Limited to number of working seatbelts

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

8 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

Automatic-30 day suspension at 8 demerits

Driver improvement actions:

- Attend Transportation Safety Board for interview as required by driving record
- Voluntary Defensive Driving Course (3 demerit reduction)
- Fines and demerits for GDL Condition violations (curfew, seat belts, accompanying driver)
- If charged with impaired driving, you must, depending on the Code assigned, attend one of two courses

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

16 years old

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5 probationary or GDL)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:



Road test: Alberta standard road test

Minimum duration:

24 months

Maximum holding period:

None

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

None

Passenger restrictions:

Limited to number of working seatbelts

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

8 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

- 30-day suspension for Zero BAC violation
- Last year of this phase must be suspension free

Driver improvement actions:

- Attend Transportation Safety Board for interview as required by driving record
- Voluntary Defensive Driving Course (3 demerit reduction)
- Fines and demerits for GDL Condition violations (seat belts, accompanying driver)
- If charged with impaired driving, you must, depending on the Code assigned, attend one of two courses; complete a driver examination

Other features:

- No upgrade to commercial class driver's license
- Cannot serve as an accompanying driver to a learner

Exit requirements:

Enhanced Class 5 road test

Minimum exit age:

18 years



Saskatchewan

Effective Date: September 1, 2005

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

 16 years old, or 15 years old if the applicant is enrolled in the High School Driver Education Program

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes
- Parental consent: if under 18 years of age

Minimum duration:

 9 months (excludes interruptions such as non-renewal, refusal, and suspension in periods)

Maximum holding period:

none

Supervisory driver:

- Held at least a Class 5 license for 365 days (in the preceding 3 years)
- Is not a Novice 1 or 2 driver
- Occupies the front passenger seat

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

- Mandatory for all <u>new</u> drivers
- If high school driver education, then 30 hours in-class and 6 hours in car
- If commercial driver education, then 6 hours in-class and 6 hours in car

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

- Between the hours of midnight and 5am, the only passengers allowed are immediate family members
- Number of passengers limited to the number of seatbelts

"L" Sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

earlier intervention than for experienced drivers

Suspension/Prohibition:

see below

- Drivers in any stage who are found at-fault for a collision or who receive convictions or suspensions, will be placed in the Graduated Driver's Licensing Improvement Program
- Drivers will progress through the following steps:
 - a warning letter will be sent to the driver if the first incident (conviction) has an assigned rating of 2 points or fewer
 - if the first incident (conviction, at-fault collision, suspension) has an assigned rating of 3 to 6 points, the driver will be required to attend an education or safety seminar



- Each incident thereafter will result in the driver being required to attend further education courses followed by the administrative suspensions:
 - Defensive Driving Course
 - Driver Improvement Training educates drivers on the responsibilities and consequences associated with driving and encourages safe driving habits
 - 30-day driver's licence suspension
 - 90-day driver's licence suspension
 - 180-day driver's licence suspension
 - Interview and review

Other features:

- Cannot be a supervising driver
- Cannot obtain a commercial driver's licence or school bus endorsement

Minimum exit age:

none

Novice (Intermediate) 1 (Class 5)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

Road test: Class 5 road test

Minimum duration:

 6 months (excludes interruptions such as non-renewal, refusal, and suspension in periods)

Maximum holding period:

none

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

- One passenger only who is not an immediate family member
- Other passengers must be immediate family members and are limited to the number of seatbelts

"N" Sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

Earlier intervention than for experienced drivers

Suspension/Prohibition:

see below

- Drivers in any stage who are found at-fault for a collision or who receive convictions or suspensions, will be placed in the Graduated Driver's Licensing Improvement Program
- Drivers will progress through the following steps:
 - a warning letter will be sent to the driver if the first incident (conviction) has an assigned rating of 2 points or fewer
 - if the first incident (conviction, at-fault collision, suspension) has an assigned rating of 3 to 6 points, the driver will be required to attend an education or safety seminar
- Each incident thereafter will result in the driver being required to attend further education courses followed by the administrative suspensions:
 - Defensive Driving Course



- Driver Improvement Training educates drivers on the responsibilities and consequences associated with driving and encourages safe driving habits
- 30-day driver's licence suspension
- 90-day driver's licence suspension
- 180-day driver's licence suspension
- Interview and review

Other features:

- Cannot be a supervising driver
- Cannot obtain a commercial driver's licence or school bus endorsement

Exit requirements:

none

Minimum exit age:

16 years and 6 months

Novice (Intermediate) 2 (Class 5)

Minimum entry age:

16 years and 6 months

Entry requirements:

Completion of Novice 1

Minimum duration:

 12 months (excluding interruptions, such as non-renewal, refusal or suspension periods <u>and</u> must have 12 months at-fault collision, conviction and suspension free)

Maximum holding period:

none

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

Limited to the number of seatbelts

"N" Sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

Earlier intervention than for experienced drivers

Suspension/Prohibition:

see below

- Drivers in any stage who are found at-fault for a collision or who receive convictions or suspensions, will be placed in the Graduated Driver's Licensing Improvement Program
- Drivers will progress through the following steps:
 - a warning letter will be sent to the driver if the first incident (conviction) has an assigned rating of 2 points or fewer
 - if the first incident (conviction, at-fault collision, suspension) has an assigned rating of 3 to 6 points, the driver will be required to attend an education or safety seminar
- Each incident thereafter will result in the driver being required to attend further education courses followed by the administrative suspensions:
 - Defensive Driving Course



- Driver Improvement Training educates drivers on the responsibilities and consequences associated with driving and encourages safe driving habits
- 30-day driver's licence suspension
- 90-day driver's licence suspension
- 180-day driver's licence suspension
- Interview and review

Other features:

- Cannot be a supervising driver
- Cannot obtain a commercial driver's licence or school bus endorsement

Exit requirements:

none

Minimum exit age:



Manitoba

Effective Date: January 1, 2003

Learner Phase (Class 5L)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old (15.5 if enrolled in high school driver education course)

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes
- Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

9 months

Maximum holding period:

No maximum time periods for Learner stage as long as licence remains valid.
 If licence allowed to lapse for > 4 years, then must re-write knowledge exam.

Supervisory driver:

 Fully licensed for at least 3 years, has a BAC<.05, and is seated in the front seat

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

 Limited to 1 Supervising driver in front seat, & number of working seatbelts in back seat only

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

 Not permitted to operate a Class 3 vehicle (farm truck) or off-road vehicle along or across highways

Lower demerit points:

Driver Improvement action is initiated at a lower threshold for Novice drivers.
 Demerits are not used in the identification process.

Suspension/Prohibition:

Not mandatory. Suspensions are imposed through a hearing process.

Driver improvement actions:

Novice driver program is three tiered:

1st intervention — Novice Warning letter 2nd intervention — Novice Driver Course 3rd intervention — Novice Driver Hearing

Other features:

- Not to take instruction in Class 1-4
- Not permitted to tow vehicles

Minimum exit age:

■ 16 years and 3 months

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5I)

Entry requirements:

Road test: Class 5I road test

Minimum duration:

15 months

Maximum holding period:

 The period can be extended through driver Improvement action. Maximum extension is 200 days at a hearing. Should there be subsequent hearings a further extension can be imposed at each hearing (max of 200 days per hearing).

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

From 5 am to midnight, passengers limited to 1 in the front seat and up to the number of seatbelts in the back seat and, from midnight to 5 am, either 1 passenger or supervisor in the front seat and up to number of seatbelts in the back seat

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

Driver Improvement action is initiated at a lower threshold for Novice drivers.
 Demerits are not used in the identification process.

Suspension/Prohibition:

Not mandatory. Suspensions are imposed through a hearing process.

Driver improvement actions:

Novice driver program is three tiered:

1st intervention — Novice Warning letter
2nd intervention — Novice Driver Course
3rd intervention — Novice Driver Hearing

Other features:

 May take instruction for Class 1-4 licenses if at least 18 and meets medical standards

Exit requirements:

Must complete 15 months in this Stage

Minimum exit age:

17 years and 6 months

Full Stage (Class 5F)

BAC:

Zero for the first 12 months

Driver improvement actions:

Novice driver program is three tiered:

1st intervention — Novice Warning letter
2nd intervention — Novice Driver Course
3rd intervention — Novice Driver Hearing

Other features:

- May upgrade to full Class 1 -4 license if at least 18, meets medical standards, and passes appropriate tests
- May supervise after three years in full stage



Ontario

Effective Date: April 1, 1994

Level 1 (Class G1)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: No

Minimum duration:

 12 months (can be reduced to 8 months if a ministry approved driver education course is successfully completed)

Maximum holding period:

• 5 year maximum for exiting combined G1/G2 Graduated Licensing System.

Supervisory driver:

 Fully licensed, has at least 4 years of driving experience, a BAC of < .05, and is the only other person in the front seat

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

None

Driver education/training:

 Voluntary (12-month minimum in G1 can be reduced to 8 months if driver successfully completes ministry approved beginner driver education course)

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

Refrain from driving between midnight and 5 am

Passenger restrictions:

• Must have experienced driver (see above) in vehicle at all times. Number of other passengers limited to the number of working seatbelts.

"L" sign/Plate:

None

Road restrictions:

- Refrain from driving on "400-series" highways or other high-speed expressways (such as QEW, DVP)
- If licensed driving instructor is with driver, may drive on any road

Lower demerit points:

- 60 day Licence suspensions at 9 demerit points (instead of 30-day licence suspension at 15 points for fully licenced drivers)
- At 2 or more demerit points, driver sent warning letter
- At 6 demerit points, driver may have to go to interview

Suspension/Prohibition:

 Suspension of 30 days if peace officer writes a ticket for violation of license use conditions

Driver improvement actions:

- Driver sent warning letter at 2 or more demerit points
- Driver may have to go to interview at 6 demerit points

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:



Level 2 (Class G2)

Entry requirements:

Road test: Class G2 road test

Minimum duration:

12 months

Maximum holding period:

5 year maximum for exiting combined G1/G2 Graduated Licensing System.

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

As of September 1, 2005, drivers 19 or under are prohibited from carrying more than one passenger aged 19 or under during the driver's first six months in G2, and more than three passengers aged 19 or under for the duration of the driver's time in G2 or until the driver turns 20. The restriction applies between midnight and 5 a.m. and would be waived if the G2 driver is accompanied by a driver who has been fully licenced for at least four years. Immediate family members are exempt.

"N" sign/Plate:

None

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

Same as above in G1

Suspension/Prohibition:

 30 day licence suspension for violating the conditions set out for novice drivers

Driver improvement actions:

- Driver sent warning letter at 2 or more demerit points
- Driver may have to go to interview at 6 demerit points

Other features:

None

Exit requirements:

Class G road test

Minimum exit age:



Quebec

Effective Date: June 30, 1997

Learner Phase (Class 5)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes
- Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

 12 months with a valid licence (can be reduced to 8 months if an approved driver education course is passed)

Maximum holding period:

None

Supervisory driver:

- Fully licensed since two years, a BAC<=*.08, and is seated in the passenger seat beside the driver and in a position to give assistance and advice.
 - *Not exceeding 80 milligrams of alcohol in 100 millilitres of blood.

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

None

Driver education/training:

Voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

none

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

4 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

- A learner's licence is suspended for 3 months following the accumulation of 4 demerit points, rather than 15 points for the driver's licence.
- Learner's licence holders are prohibited from consuming alcohol. If an
 offence is committed, 4 demerit points are entered on the driver's record,
 resulting in a 3-month licence suspension.
- Once the suspension is over, the licence is valid again but the length of the period of validity of the learner's licence is extended by 3 months.

Driver improvement actions:

Promotion's campaigns and educational programs.

Other features:

Can only drive Class 5 vehicles

Minimum exit age:

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5)

Probationary licence in Québec:

The probationary licence is for drivers aged 16 to 24. It is valid for 24 months or until age 25, whichever comes first.

Entry requirements:

- Road test: Class 5 road test
- Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

24 months with a valid licence or until age 25, whichever comes first.

Maximum holding period:

24 months with a valid licence or until age 25, whichever comes first.

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

- none
- .

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

4 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

- A probationary licence is suspended for 3 months following the accumulation of 4 demerit points, rather than 15 points for the driver's licence.
- Probationary licence holders are prohibited from consuming alcohol. If an
 offence is committed, 4 demerit points are entered on the driver's record,
 resulting in a 3-month licence suspension.
- Once the suspension is over, the licence is valid again but the length of the period of validity of the probationary licence is extended by 3 months.

Driver improvement actions:

Promotion's campaigns and educational programs.

Other features:

none

Exit requirements:

None

Minimum exit age:



Newfoundland

Effective Date: January 1, 1999

Learner Phase (Class 5 - Level I (5I))

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes, score 85%
- Parental consent: yes, if under 19

Minimum duration:

 12 months (can be reduced to 8 months if an approved driver education course is passed)

Maximum holding period:

2 years

Supervisory driver:

 Four years of driving experience as a Class 5 driver, a BAC<.05, and is seated in the front seat adjacent to the driver

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

No driving between midnight and 5 am

Passenger restrictions:

 No passengers except supervisor (exception for parents/guardians if driver is enrolled in driver education and is accompanied by a licensed instructor)

"L" sign/Plate:

Mandatory

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

6 instead of 12

Suspension/Prohibition:

- If suspension, must start over at first level but credit is given for driving course
- See BAC suspension details below

- If suspended for demerit points:
 - driver must complete a Responsible Driver's Workshop (an 8 hour course) prior to re-instatement
 - driver must pay a \$100 re-instatement fee plus fines
- If suspended for BAC violation:
 - there is a 2 month suspension for the first occurrence, 4 months for a second, and 6 months for a third or subsequent occurrence
 - on a second occurrence, driver must complete a 4 hour alcohol education program, pay re-instatement fee and fines



 for a third or subsequent occurrence, driver must attend an alcohol rehabilitation program (up to 6 months to complete), pay reinstatement fee and fines (these are provincial sanctions unrelated to Criminal Code of Canada (CCC) charges)

Other features:

No upgrade to commercial class vehicle

Minimum exit age:

16 years and 8 months

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5 - Level II (5II))

Entry requirements:

Road test: Class 5II road test

Minimum duration:

12 months

Maximum holding period:

 None, driver automatically upgrades to full Class 5 license after 12 months of suspension-free driving

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

 If driving between midnight and 5 am, must be accompanied by a licensed driver with at least 4 years of experience (exemption for work purposes)

Passenger restrictions:

Limited to number of working seatbelts

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

6 instead of 12

Suspension/Prohibition:

- If suspension, must restart current level
- See BAC suspension details below

Driver improvement actions:

- If suspended for demerit points:
 - driver must complete a Responsible Driver's Workshop (an 8 hour course) prior to re-instatement
 - driver must pay a \$100 re-instatement fee plus fines
- If suspended for BAC violation:
 - there is a 2 month suspension for the first occurrence, 4 months for a second, and 6 months for a third or subsequent occurrence
 - on a second occurrence, driver must complete a 4 hour alcohol education program, pay re-instatement fee and fines
 - for a third or subsequent occurrence, driver must attend an alcohol rehabilitation program (up to 6 months to complete), pay reinstatement fee and fines (these are provincial sanctions unrelated to Criminal Code of Canada (CCC) charges)

Other features:

No upgrade to commercial class driver's license

Exit requirements:

 None, driver automatically upgrades to full Class 5 license after 12 months of suspension-free driving

Minimum exit age:



New Brunswick

Effective Date: January 1, 1996

Learner Phase (Class 7 - Level 1)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes
- Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

12 months (can be reduced to 4 months if an approved driver education course is completed)

Maximum holding period:

none

Supervisory driver:

- one fully licensed driver, who is seated in the front passenger seat
- Minimum amount of supervised driving:
 - No specified number of hours unless the Class 7 Level 1 driver has completed a driver education course, in which case they would have a minimum of 10 hours supervised driving.

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

no passengers permitted except one fully licensed driver, who is seated in the front passenger seat

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

When a person is first licensed, they start with 4 points on their driving record and they receive an 2 additional points on the anniversary date of their first licence to a maximum of 10 points.

Suspension/Prohibition:

- 1 year suspension for zero BAC violation
- Loss of 3 points and a fine for no supervising driver or too many passengers
- 3 month suspension for loss of all points
- If a driver in the graduated driver licensing program is suspended for a period of 3 month or greater, the suspension is followed by a return to the beginning of the graduated driver licensing period with no credit given for previously passed tests or driver training course.

Driver improvement actions:

none

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:



Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 7 – Level 2))

Entry requirements:

successfully complete a road test

Minimum duration:

12 months (20 months, if you have successfully completed a driver training course and enter level 2 after 4 months).

Maximum holding period:

20 months

BAC:

zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

none

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

When a person is first licensed, they start with 4 points on their driving record and they receive an 2 additional points on the anniversary date of their first licence to a maximum of 10 points.

Suspension/Prohibition:

- 1 year suspension for zero BAC violation
- 3 month suspension for loss of all points
- If a driver in the graduated driver licence program is suspended for a period of 3 month or greater, the suspension is followed by a return to the beginning of the graduated driver licensing period with no credit given for previously passed tests or driver training course.

Driver improvement actions:

none

Other features:

none

Exit requirements:

none

Minimum exit age:

18 years



Nova Scotia

Effective Date: October 1, 1994

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

- Vision test: yes
- Knowledge test: yes includes rules of the road and signs
- Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

 6 months (can be reduced to 3 months if an approved driver education course is passed)

Maximum holding period:

 1 year – Learner license expires and must be renewed per entry requirements

Supervisory driver:

- Experienced driver with at least a Class 5 license
- Must have exited the GDL system and be the holder of at least a regular Class 5 license

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

 voluntary – Full Driver Education/Training for reduced time requirements to obtain a driver's license is voluntary. This course may also act as an exit course from GDL. If a person does not wish to take a full driver training course, they must complete a six hour driver improvement program to exit GDL

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

- May drive after 12 am if accompanied by a Regular Status licensed driver Passenger restrictions:
- No passengers except supervisor, who is required to be in the front seat "L" sign/Plate:
 - none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

- 2 demerit points while in the Learner stage will require an interview
- 4 demerit points will implement a six month suspension

Suspension/Prohibition:

must start the process over if given a suspension

Driver improvement actions:

 Must complete a vision, signs, rules of the road, and driving test before restoration of their driver's license. Discretionary suspensions may be implemented by the Department upon review of a driving record

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:



Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5N)

Entry requirements:

 Road test: Class 5N road test – Could be a Class 6N if a person only wishes to operate a motorcycle

Minimum duration:

24 months

Maximum holding period:

 Class 5N or 6N licenses are issued for a five year period with a five year expiry on birth date

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

 If driving between midnight and 5 am, must be accompanied by an experienced driver (may apply for exemption for employment purposes)

Passenger restrictions:

 Limit of 1 passenger in the front seat and up to the number of seatbelts in the back

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

- 4 demerit points interview implemented
- 6 demerit points suspension implemented

Suspension/Prohibition:

Holder must start the 24-month process over if given a suspension

Driver improvement actions:

Subject to driver improvement action earlier than experienced drivers

Other features:

- Discretionary suspension action may take place upon review of a driver's record
- No upgrade beyond a Class 5 license

Exit requirements:

- No road test
- Completion of a driver improvement course as well as 24 months in the Novice stage of GDL

Minimum exit age:



Prince Edward Island

Effective Date: December 20, 2000 extended learner period ("newly licensed" driver program

introduced in 1980)

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old or 15.5 if enrolled in the Driver Education Program

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent:

yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

180 days with or without driver education

Maximum holding period:

Expires after 1 year

Supervisory driver:

 Has a valid driver's license for at least 4 years, licensed to drive same class of vehicle that Learner is driving, and must have a BAC<.08

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

 Voluntary, but those not enrolled in a driving course must take a 5-hour knowledge course for novices

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

No passengers, except family members

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

6 instead of 12

Suspension/Prohibition:

1 month suspension at 6 points

May be required to start stage over or have stage extended (administrative)

Driver improvement actions:

Warning letter issued at 3, 4 or 5 points

Other features:

 If taking a driving course and the knowledge and road test are conducted at the school, a supplementary test may be requested

Minimum exit age:

 16 years and 6 months without driver education and 16 years with driver education

Intermediate Stage

Minimum entry age:

16 years old



Entry requirements:

Road test required

Parental consent:

Yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

24 months

Maximum holding period:

none

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

■ First year – 3 passengers

Second year – limited to number of seatbelts

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

First year – 6 instead of 12

Second year – 9 instead of 12

Suspension/Prohibition:

Suspension implemented at 6 points

 Discretionary suspensions may be implemented by the Department upon review of a driving record

May be required to start stage over or have stage extended (administrative)

Driver improvement actions:

Driver subject to Driver Improvement Action earlier than experienced drivers

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

18 years



Yukon

Effective Date: September 11, 2000

Learner Phase (Class 7 - GDL Learner)

Minimum entry age:

15 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: yes, if under 18

Minimum duration:

6 months

Maximum holding period:

N/A

Supervisory driver:

- Have held a valid license for 2 years immediately prior to teaching the learner to drive
- The license must not be a Learner's or GDL license, and it must be for the class of vehicle the learner will be driving or a higher class of license
- Must be seated next to the driver
- Is able to take over lawful control of the vehicle

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

- 50 hours, with 10 hours in darkness and 10 hours in winter conditions (must be logged separately)
- Must complete a Declaration stating that the minimum number of driving hours were completed and the parent/guardian/co-driver who taught the learner must sign the document as well

Driver education/training:

voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

No driving between midnight and 5 am

Passenger restrictions:

One passenger, in addition to the co-driver

"L" sign/Plate:

Mandatory

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

7 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

- If any conditions of this license broken, driver receives a summary conviction ticket and, upon conviction, will be required to restart the GDL Learner stage
- If license is suspended, cancelled, or disqualified, the driver will be required to restart the GDL Learner stage
- When the Learner license is reinstated, the driver must again meet the time requirement for the Learner stage and will not be eligible to progress to the Novice stage for at least another 6 months
- If 7 or more demerit points assigned, suspension will be one month if it is the first time within a one year period that 7 points have accumulated – interview with the Registrar of motor Vehicles required for reinstatement



If 7 or more demerit points assigned, suspension will be two months if it is
the second or subsequent time the driver accumulated 7 or more demerit
points within a one year period – interview with the Registrar of Motor
Vehicles required for reinstatement

Driver improvement actions:

N/A

Other features:

 May drive a vehicle that is equipped to carry no more than 7 persons, including the driver, and has registered gross vehicle weight not exceeding 4000 kg

Minimum exit age:

16 years

Novice (Intermediate) Phase (Class 5 – GDL Novice)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

- Class 5 road test
- Parental consent: yes

Minimum duration:

18 months

Maximum holding period:

N/A

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

 If driving between midnight and 5 am, must be accompanied by a qualified co-driver

Passenger restrictions:

- No more than one passenger who is under 13 years old
- No combination of passengers that includes more than one passenger under 13 years old and more than one passenger who is over 12 but under 20 years old unless there is a passenger in the vehicle who is at least 20 years old and whose ability to supervise the younger passengers is not impaired by alcohol or drugs
- No more passenger than seatbelts
- No passengers in a box of a truck being operated by a novice driver

"N" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

7 instead of 15

Suspension/Prohibition:

- If any conditions of this license broken, driver receives a summary conviction ticket and, upon conviction, will be required to restart the GDL Novice stage
- If license is suspended, cancelled, or disqualified, the driver will be required to restart the GDL Novice stage
- The time the GDL Novice license has been held will not be counted toward the total time required to qualify to be eligible to obtain a full privilege Class 5 or Class 6 license
- When the Novice license is reinstated, the driver must again meet the time requirement for the Novice stage and will not be eligible to progress out of the Novice stage for at least another 18 months



- If 7 or more demerit points assigned, suspension will be one month if it is the first time within a one year period that 7 points have accumulated – interview with the Registrar of Motor Vehicles required for reinstatement
- If 7 or more demerit points assigned, suspension will be two months if it is the second or subsequent time the driver accumulated 7 or more demerit points within a one year period – interview with the Registrar of Motor Vehicles required for reinstatement

Driver improvement actions:

N/A

Other features:

 May drive a vehicle equipped to carry not more than 9 persons, including the driver, with a registered gross vehicle weight not to exceed 4000 kg

Exit requirements:

none

Minimum exit age:

Northwest Territories

Effective Date: August 1, 2005

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

15 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: no

Minimum duration:

12 months

Maximum holding period:

none

Supervisory driver:

 Fully licensed driver, who has a minimum of 24 months experience with a full Class 5 licence

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

Voluntary

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

Cannot drive between 11pm and 6am

Passenger restrictions:

No passengers allowed other than supervisor

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

fewer demerit points are permitted

Suspension/Prohibition:

- Subject to 30 day suspension if BAC>0
- Time spent suspended will have to be made up before moving on to the next stage

Driver improvement actions:

none

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

16 years old

Probationary (Class 5P)

Minimum entry age:

16 years old

Entry requirements:

practical road test

Minimum duration:

12 months

Maximum holding period:

none

BAC:

Zero

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

- limited to number of seatbelts
- only one passenger permitted in front seat

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

• fewer demerit points are permitted

Suspension/Prohibition:

- Subject to 30 day suspension if BAC>0
- Time spent suspended will have to be made up before moving on to the next stage

Driver improvement actions:

none

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

17 years old



Nunavut

Effective Date: Currently no GDL

Learner Phase (Class 7)

Minimum entry age:

15 years old

Entry requirements:

Vision test: yes

Knowledge test: yes

Parental consent: N/S

Minimum duration:

4 weeks

Maximum holding period:

N/S

Supervisory driver:

N/S

Minimum amount of supervised driving:

none

Driver education/training:

Voluntary

BAC:

N/S

Night restrictions:

none

Passenger restrictions:

none

"L" sign/Plate:

none

Road restrictions:

none

Lower demerit points:

none

Suspension/Prohibition:

N/S

Driver improvement actions:

none

Other features:

none

Minimum exit age:

■ 16 years old

N/S means not specified

Appendix B Other GDL Programs

GDL Programs in the United States

		Learner St	tage	Int	termediate Stage Restrictio	ns on Driving while Unsupervised	Minimum Age at Which Restrictions May Be Lifte	
Jurisdiction/ Evaluation	Minimum Entry Age	Mandatory Holding Period	Minimum Amount of Supervised Driving	Minimum Age	Unsupervised Driving Prohibited	Restriction on Passengers (family members excepted unless otherwise noted)	Nighttime Restriction	Passenger Restriction
Optimal provisions	16	6 mo.	30–50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	9/10 p.m5 a.m.	No more than 1 teenage passenger*	Until age 18	17
Alabama / F	15¹	6 mo.	30 hr.1 (none with driver education)	16	Midnight–6 a.m.	No more than 3 passengers (parents and guardians excepted)	171	17 ¹
Alaska / G	14	6 mo.	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night or in inclement weather (eff. 1/1/05)	16	1 a.m5 a.m. (eff. 1/1/05)	First 6 mo.: No passengers (eff. 1/1/05)	16, 6 mo. (eff. 1/1/05)	16, 6 mo. (eff. 1/1/05
Arizona / P	15, 7 mo. ²	5 mo.	25 hr., 5 of which must be at night ² (none with driver education)	Th	ere is no intermediate stage	The minimum license age is 16.	<u> </u>	<u>—</u>
Arkansas / M	14	6 mo. ³	None	There is no	passenger or night driving re	estriction. The minimum license age is 16.3		
California / G	15, 6 mo. ⁴	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	11 p.m.–5 a.m. (eff. 1/1/06) S	First 12 mo.: No passengers younger than 20 (limited exception for immediate family) (eff. 1/1/06) S	17	17 (eff. 1/1/06
Colorado / G	15 ⁵	12 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	Midnight–5 a.m.	First 6 mo.: No passengers Second 6 mo.: No more than 1 passenger	17	17
			dless of age, may not mer stage (eff. 8/10/05)			(eff. 7/1/05) S		
Connecticut / G	16 ⁶	6 mo. (4 mo. with driver education) ⁶	up to 20 hr. ⁶ (eff. 10/1/05)	16, 4 mo. ⁶	Midnight–5 a.m. (eff. 10/1/05)	First 3 mo.: No passengers ⁶ other than a parent if there is a supervising driver present Second 3 mo.: No passengers (family members excepted) (eff. 10/1/05)	18 (eff. 10/1/05)	16, 10 mo. (eff. 10/1/05
		Cell pho	nes: A driver may not oper	ate a cell phone	in the learner or intermedia	te stage (eff. 10/1/05)		
Delaware / F	15, 10 mo.	6 mo.7	None	16, 4 mo. ⁷	10 p.m6 a.m. ⁷	No more than 2 passengers7	16, 10 mo.	16, 10 mo.
		Cell pho	nes: A driver may not open	ate a cell phone	in the learner or intermedia	te stage (eff. 4/14/05)		
District of Columbia / G	16	6 mo. ⁸	40 hr. in learner's stage; 10 hr. at night in intermediate stage	16, 6 mo.	September-June: 11 p.m6 a.m. Su-Th, 12:01 a.m6 a.m. Sa-Su;	First 6 mo.: No passengers; Thereafter, no more than 2 passengers	18 ⁸	18
	Cell	phones: A driver m	nay not operate a cell earner stage.		July–August: 12:01a.m.–6 a.m. ⁸			
Florida ⁹ / F	15	12 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	11 p.m.–6 a.m. (age 16), 1 a.m.–5 a.m. (age 17)	None	18	_

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751

Laws as of October 2005 page 2



		Learner St	age	Int	ermediate Stage Restricti	ions on Driving while Unsupervised	Minimum Age at Which Restrictions May Be Lifte	
Jurisdiction/ Evaluation	Minimum Entry Age	Mandatory Holding Period	Minimum Amount of Supervised Driving	Minimum Age	Unsupervised Driving Prohibited	Restriction on Passengers (family members excepted unless otherwise noted)	Nighttime Restriction	Passenger Restriction
Optimal provisions	16	6 mo.	30-50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	9/10 p.m5 a.m.	No more than 1 teenage passenger*	Until age 18	17
Georgia / G	15	12 mo.	40 hr., 6 of which must be at night (20 hr., 6 of which must be at night, with driver education)	16	Midnight–6 a.m. S	First 6 mo.: No passengers; thereafter, no more than 3 passengers younger than 21 S	18	18
Hawaii/ G	15, 6 mo.	6 mo. (eff. 1/9/06)	None	16	11 p.m.–5 a.m. (eff. 1/9/06)	No more than 1 passenger younger than 18 (household members excepted). (eff. 1/9/06)	17 (eff. 1/9/06)	17 (eff. 1/9/06)
ldaho / M	14, 6 mo.	4 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	15 ¹¹	Sunset to sunrise	None	1611	-
Illinois / F	15 ¹²	3 mo.	25 hr.	16 ¹²	Starts 11 p.m. Su-Th, midnight Fri-Sat, ends 6 a.m.	First 6 mo.: No more than 1 passenger younger than 20	1712	16, 6 mo.
		Cel	I phones: A driver may not	operate a cell ph	one in the learner and int	termediate stages.		
Indiana / F	15 ¹³	2 mo.	None	16, 1 mo. ¹³	11 p.m.–5 a.m. Su–F 1 a.m.–5 a.m. Sa–Su,	First 90 days: No passengers	18	16, 4 mo.
lowa / F	14	6 mo.	20 hr., 2 of which must be at night	16 ¹⁴	12:30 a.m5 a.m.	None	1714	-
Kansas ¹⁵ / M	14	6 mo.	25 hr., in learner phase; 25 hr. before age 16; 10 of the 50 hr. must be at night	The	ere is no intermediate stag	ge. The minimum license age is 16.	_	-
Kentucky / M	16	6 mo.	None	There is	s no intermediate stage.	The minimum license age is 16, 6 mo. 16	_	_
Louisiana / F	15 ¹⁷	6 mo.	None	16 ¹⁷	11 p.m5 a.m. ¹⁷	None	1717	_
Maine / G	15 ¹⁸	6 mo. ¹⁸	35 hr., 5 of which ¹⁸ must be at night	16 ¹⁸	Midnight-5 a.m.	First 180 days: No passengers	16, 6 mo. ¹⁸	16, 6 mo. ¹⁸
		Cel	I phones: A driver may not	operate a cell ph	one in the learner and int	termediate stages.		
Maryland / G	15, 9 mo.	6 mo. (eff. 10/1/05)	60 hr., 10 of which must be at night (eff. 10/1/05)	16, 3 mo. (eff. 10/1/05)	Midnight-5 a.m. 19	First 5 mo.: No passengers younger than 18 (eff. 10/1/05) S	17, 9 mo. (eff. 10/1/05)	16, 8 mo. (eff. 10/1/05)
		19	Cell phones: A driver youn	ger than 18 may	not operate a cell phone S	in the learner and intermediate stages (eff. 10/1/0	5)	
Massachusetts / G	16	6 mo.	12 hr.	16, 6 mo.	Midnight-5 a.m. ²⁰	First 6 mo.: No passengers younger than 18	18	17
Kev: G=good, F=fai	r. M=margina	I. P=poor: S=seco	ondary enforcement.					continued

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751



		Learner Sta	age	Inte	rmediate Stage Restrictio	ns on Driving while Unsupervised	Minimum Age at Which Restrictions May Be Lifted	
Jurisdiction/ Evaluation	Minimum Entry Age	Mandatory Holding Period	Minimum Amount of Supervised Driving	Minimum Age	Unsupervised Driving Prohibited	Restriction on Passengers (family members excepted unless otherwise noted)	Nighttime Restriction	Passenger Restriction
Optimal provisions	16	6 mo.	30-50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	9/10 p.m5 a.m.	No more than 1 teenage passenger*	Until age 18	17
Michigan / F	14, 9 mo. ²¹	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16 ²¹	Midnight-5 a.m.	None	1721	-
Minnesota / M	15 ²²	6 mo. ²²	30 hr., 10 of which must be at night	A prov		anted at 16. There are no passenger ne restrictions.	_	_
	Cell phones: A	driver may not oper	rate a cell phone in the lea	amer stage and in	the provisional stage, whi	ch lasts for 12 mo. or until age 18 (eff. 1/1/2006)		
Mississippi / M	15	6 mo. ²³	None	15, 6 mo. ²³	10 p.m6 a.m. ²³	None	16	-
Missouri / F	15	6 mo.	20 hr.	16	1 a.m5 a.m.	None	18	200
Montana / M	14, 6 mo.	6 mo. (eff. 7/1/06)	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night (eff. 7/1/06)	1524	11 p.m5 a.m. (eff. 7/1/06)	First 6 mo.: No more than 1 passenger younger than 18 Second 6 mo.: No more than 3 passengers younger than 18 (eff. 7/1/06)	16 (eff. 7/1/06)	16 (eff. 7/1/06)
Nebraska / M	15 ²⁵	None	50 hr. (none with driver education)	16	Midnight-6 a.m.	None	17	777
Nevada / G	15, 6 mo.	6 mo. ²⁶ (eff. 10/1/05)	50 hr., eff. 10/1/05, 10 of the 50 hrs. must be at night	16 (eff. 10/1/05)	10 p.m.–5 a.m. (eff. 10/1/05) S	First 3 mo.: No passengers younger than 18 (eff. 10/1/05) S	18 (eff. 10/1/05)	16, 3 mo. (eff. 10/1/05)
New Hampshire / F	15, 6 mo. ²⁷	None	20 hr.	16	1 a.m5 a.m.	First 6 mo.: No more than 1 passenger younger than 25	17, 1 mo.	16, 6 mo.
New Jersey / G	16 ²⁸	6 mo. ²⁸	None	17 ²⁸	Midnight-5 a.m.	No more than 1 passenger (household members excepted)	18	18
		Cell	phones: A driver may not	operate a cell pho	one in the learner and inte	mediate stages.		
New Mexico / M	15	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	15, 6 mo.	Midnight-5 a.m.	No more than 1 passenger younger than 21	16, 6 mo. ²⁹	16, 6 mo. ²⁹
New York / G	16 ³⁰	up to 6 mo. ³⁰	20 hr.	16, 6 mo. ³⁰	9 p.m.–5 a.m.	No more than 2 passengers younger than 21 ³⁰	17 (18 without driver education) ³⁰	17 (18 without drive education) ³⁰
North Carolina / G	15	12 mo.	None	16	9 p.m.–5 a.m. ³¹	No more than 1 passenger younger than 21 (family members exempted); if a family member younger than 21 is already a passenger then no other passengers younger than 21 who are not family members	16, 6 mo.	16, 6 mo.
North Dakota / M	14	6 mo.	None	Ther	re is no intermediate stage	e. The minimum license age is 16.		

Key: G=good, F=fair, M=marginal, P=poor; S=secondary enforcement.

continued

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751



		Learner Sta	age	Int	ermediate Stage Restrict	tions on Driving while Unsupervised	Minimum Age at Which Restrictions May Be Lifted	
Jurisdiction/ Evaluation	Minimum Entry Age	Mandatory Holding Period	Minimum Amount of Supervised Driving	Minimum Age	Unsupervised Driving Prohibited	Restriction on Passengers (family members excepted unless otherwise noted)	Nighttime Restriction	Passenger Restriction
Optimal provisions	16	6 mo.	30-50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	9/10 p.m5 a.m.	No more than 1 teenage passenger*	Until age 18	17
Ohio / F	15, 6 mo.	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16 ³²	1 a.m.–5 a.m. S	None	1732	_
Oklahoma / G	15, 6 mo. ³³	6 mo.	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night (eff. 11/1/05)	16	11 p.m.–5 a.m. (eff. 11/1/05)	No more than 1 passenger (household members excepted) (eff. 11/1/05)	16, 6 mo. (17 without driver education) (eff. 11/1/05)	16, 6 mo. (17 without driver education) (eff. 11/1/05)
Oregon / G	15	6 mo.	50 hr. ³² (100 hr. without driver education)	16	Midnight-5 a.m.	First 6 mo.: No passengers younger than 20 Second 6 mo.: No more than 3 passengers younger than 20	17	17
Pennsylvania / G	16	6 mo.	50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	11 p.m.–5 a.m.	None	17 (18 without driver education)	_
Rhode Island / G	16 ³⁴	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16, 6 mo.	1 a.m5 a.m.	First 12 mo.: No more than 1 passenger younger than 21	17. 6 mo.	17, 6 mo.
South Carolina / M	15	6 mo.	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night	15, 6 mo.	6 p.m.–6 a.m. EST, ³⁵ 8 p.m.–6 a.m. EDT	No more than 2 passengers younger than 21 (exceptions: family members and driving students to and from school)	16, 6 mo.	16, 6 mo.
South Dakota ³⁶ / M	14	6 mo. (3 mo. with driver education)	None	14, 6 mo. (14, 3 mo. with driver education)	10 p.m.–6 a.m.	None	16	-
Tennessee / G	15	6 mo. ³⁷	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	11 p.m6 a.m. ³⁷	No more than 1 passenger	17	17
		Cell phon	es: A driver may not opera	ite a cell phone in	the learner and interme	diate stages (eff. 7/1/05)		
Texas / F	15 ³⁸	6 mo.	None	16	Midnight–5 a.m. S	No more than 1 passenger younger than 21 S	16, 6 mo.	16, 6 mo.
				Cell phones: A	driver may not operate a	cell phone in the intermediate stage (eff. 9/1/05)		
Utah / F	15, 6 mo. ³⁹	None	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night ³⁹	16 ³⁹	Midnight-5 a.m.	First 6 mo.: No passengers S	17	16, 6 mo
Vermont / F	15	1 yr.	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	None	First 3 mo.: No passengers without exception Second 3 mo.: No passengers (family members excepted)	_	16, 6 mo.

Key: G=good, F=fair, M=marginal, P=poor; S=secondary enforcement.

continued

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751



		Learner Sta	age	Inte	ermediate Stage Restric	tions on Driving while Unsupervised	Minimum Age at Which Restrictions May Be Lifted	
Jurisdiction/ Evaluation	Minimum Mandatory Entry Age Holding Period		Minimum Amount of Supervised Driving	Minimum Age	Unsupervised Driving Prohibited	Restriction on Passengers (family members excepted unless otherwise noted)	Nighttime Restriction	Passenger Restriction
Optimal provisions	16	6 mo.	30–50 hr.	16, 6 mo.	9/10 p.m5 a.m.	No more than 1 teenage passenger*	Until age 18	17
Virginia / G	15, 6 mo.	9 mo.	40 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16, 3 mo.	Midnight-4 a.m. ⁴¹ S	First 12 mo.: No more than 1 passenger younger than 18; thereafter, no more than 3 passengers younger than 18 ⁴¹ S	18	18
Washington / G	1542	6 mo.	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	1 a.m.–5 a.m. S	First 6 mo.: No passengers younger than 20 Second 6 mo.: No more than 3 passengers younger than 20 S	1742	17*2
West Virginia / F	15	6 mo.	30 hr. (none with driver education)	16	11 p.m.–5 a.m. ⁴³	No more than 3 passengers younger than 19 ⁴³	17	17
Wisconsin / G	15, 6 mo. ⁴⁴	6 mo.	30 hr., 10 of which must be at night	16	Midnight-5 a.m.	No more than 1 passenger	16, 9 mo. ⁴⁴	16, 9 mo. ⁴⁴
Wyoming / F	15	10 days	50 hr., 10 of which must be at night (eff. 9/16/05)	16	11 p.m5 a.m. (eff. 9/16/05)	No more than 1 passenger younger than 18 (eff. 9/16/05)	16, 6 mo. ⁴⁵	16, 6 mo. ⁴⁵

Key: G=good, F=fair, M=marginal, P=poor; S=secondary enforcement.

- * Passenger restrictions vary with regard to their durations, the ages of passengers to whom they apply, and the availability of exceptions. Most states have exceptions for passengers who are related to the driver or are members of the driver's household, and there are exceptions when a supervising driver is in the vehicle.
- ¹ The supervising driver in Alabama must be a parent, guardian, or driving instructor. At age 16, permit holders may drive while supervised by any licensed driver. Certification waived for applicants who have completed driver education. Restrictions end after holding the intermediate license for at least 6 months and reaching age 17.
- ² A driver education instructor in Arizona can authorize a student enrolled in driver education who is age 15 to drive only while supervised by the authorizing instructor. Certification waived for applicants who have completed driver education.
- ³ In Arkansas, people age 14 can drive with an instruction permit after passing a written test; after 30 days and after passing a road test, they are eligible for a restricted license. Unsupervised driving is not permitted by holders of either the instruction permit or restricted license. The combined holding period for the permit and restricted license is 6 months. An intermediate phase for licensees younger than 18 prohibits drivers from transporting passengers who are unrestrained. Applicants for an intermediate license must be 16 and must be crash/ violation free for 6 months.
- ⁴ Students enrolled in driver education in California may drive while supervised by an instructor. License applicants who do not take driver education must wait until age 18 for a license. They are not required to go through an intermediate license stage.
- ⁵ In Colorado, the minimum permit age varies. Fifteen-year-olds who are enrolled in driver education may apply for an instruction permit. Their supervising driver must be a parent, stepparent, grandparent, guardian, or driving instructor. A person age 15, 6 months, may apply for an instruction permit which allows driving while supervised by a parent, stepparent, grandparent, or guardian. Although driver education is not required at this age, applicants for this permit must have completed a 4-hour driver awareness program. At 16, young drivers may apply for a permit that allows driving while supervised by a licensed driver age 21 or older.
- ⁶ Either driver education or home training is required for license applicants younger than 18 in Connecticut. Time spent practice driving with a professional instructor counts toward the 20 hour certification requirement.
- In Delaware, a driver education student does not need a permit to drive with a driver education instructor. After completing the on-road requirements of driver education, a driver education student who is at least age 15 years, 10 months may apply for a Driver Education Learner's Permit, which allows the student to drive while supervised by an experienced driver. Upon completion of driver education, and if the student passes both the road and written tests, the student receives a Level 1 permit that for the first 6 months allows driving only while supervised. There also is a

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751



passenger restriction during the first 6 months of the Level 1 permit. No more than 2 passengers (family members excepted) are permitted in addition to the supervising driver. The Level 1 permit for the second 6 months is the equivalent of an intermediate license. During that period, holders may drive unsupervised between 6 a.m. and 10 p.m. and may only carry 2 passengers. Applicants for a driver's license who are younger than 18 must have held a Driver Education Learner's Permit and/or a Level 1 permit for at least 12 months. Driver education is required for all license applicants younger than 18.

- The learner's stage in the District of Columbia is mandatory for all license applicants, regardless of age. A nighttime restriction (9 p.m.-6 a.m.) applies in the learner stage. License applicants younger than 21 must go through the intermediate stage until they have completed it or until age 21.
- ⁹ In Florida, learner's permit holders may not for the first 3 months drive after sunset and thereafter may not drive after 10 p.m.
- ¹⁰ License applicants younger than 18 must have completed driver education in Hawaii.
- ¹¹ In Idaho, license applicants younger than 17 must have completed driver education. There are three classes of learner's permits: a training instruction permit for persons 14, 6 months taking driver education; a supervised instruction permit for practice driving with a nonprofessional supervisor; and an instruction permit for persons younger than 17 who have completed driver education and supervised driving or for persons 17 and older without either driver education or supervised driving.
- 12 Enrollment in driver education is required for permit applicants age 15 in Illinois; without driver education, a permit applicant must be age 17, 9 months. License applicants 18 and older are not required to have driver education or to go through an intermediate license stage.
- 13 Driver education determines the minimum age for permits and the intermediate license in Indiana. People enrolled in or who have completed driver education must be age 15 to have a permit; otherwise, they must be age 16. The minimum age for an intermediate license is 16, 1 month with driver education; age 16, 6 months, without.
- ¹⁴ In addition to the certification in the learner stage, Iowa requires a certification of 10 hours of supervised driving, 2 of which must be at night during the intermediate stage. Driver education is required for an intermediate license and for an unrestricted license if applicant is younger than 18. Restrictions end after holding an intermediate license for at least 1 year and reaching age 17.
- 15 In Kansas, restricted license holders may not drive unless supervised other than to and from school or work via the most direct route and may not carry minor passengers other than siblings. To get a restricted license, applicants must have driven at least 25 of the 50 hours required for a full license and must have held an instruction permit for 6 months.
- 16 The Kentucky law prohibits learner's permit holders from driving between midnight and 6 a.m. There is no nighttime driving restriction for other license holders. License holders younger than 18 must complete a 4-hour course on safe driving within 1 year of receiving a license.
- ¹⁷ Driver education is required in Louisiana for a permit and an intermediate license if the applicant is younger than 17. People 17 and older must have completed an educational program that does not require a behind-the-wheel component.
- ¹⁸ In Maine, driver education is required for a permit and a license if the applicant is younger than 18. The learner's permit holding period and the certification of practice driving applies to license applicants younger than 21.
- ¹⁹ In Maryland, 15 year-olds may drive without a permit if supervised by a driver education instructor. Driver education and the certification of practice driving applies to all initial license applicants. The nighttime driving restriction, however, only applies to intermediate license holders younger than 18.
- 20 The night driving restriction in Massachusetts also applies to permit holders younger than 18, unless accompanied by a licensed parent or guardian. Driver education is required of license applicants younger than 18.
- 21 Permit applicants younger than 18 in Michigan must have completed the first segment of driver education; license applicants younger than 18 must have completed the second segment of driver education. Neither driver education nor an intermediate license is required for license applicants 18 and older.
- ²² In Minnesota, permit applicants younger than 18 must be enrolled in driver education; license applicants younger than 18 must have completed driver education. The permit holding period applies to license applicants 18 and older unless they have completed driver education. Provisional license holders must be crash free to qualify for a full license.
- ²³ In Mississippi, license applicants 17 and older are exempt from the 6-month learner's permit holding period and the requirement to get an intermediate license.
- ²⁴ Enrollment in or completion of driver education is required for permit applicants younger than 15 in Montana; license applicants younger than 16 must have completed driver education.
- 25 In Nebraska, 14 year-olds who live 1.5 miles or more from school and who either live outside or attend school outside a metropolitan area may be issued a learner's permit (called an "LPE permit") and a limited license (called a "school permit"). The LPE permit authorizes supervised driving for the purpose of preparing for the school permit, which allows driving to and from school or anyplace while supervised by a parent or guardian.
- ²⁶ Until October 1, 2005, the length of the mandatory holding period depends on the applicant's age. If license applicant is 16 then mandatory holding period in learner stage is 60 days. If license applicant is 17 then mandatory holding period in learner stage is 30 days. As of October 1, 2005, driver education will be required of all licensed applicants younger than 18 unless there is no

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751

Laws as of October 2005



- driver education program offered within a 30-mile radius of the applicant's residence. Until then, Nevada license applicants younger than 18 must have completed driver education if the school the applicant is attending is located in a county with a population less than 50,000 or in a city or town with a population less than 25,000 and the school does not offer driver education.
- ²⁷ New Hampshire does not issue learner's permits. At age 15, 6 months, a person can drive while supervised by a licensed driver 25 or older.
- ²⁸ In New Jersey, the permit becomes an intermediate license after 6 months. The graduated licensing law applies to adults, except that the night driving and passenger restrictions are waived for new drivers 21 and older. If the applicant has not completed driver education, the minimum permit age is 17 and the minimum intermediate license age is 17, 6 months. Learner's permit holders may not drive between 11 p.m. and 5 a.m. and may not carry more than 1 passenger in addition to the supervising driver.
- ²⁹ Permit applicants younger than 18 must be enrolled in driver education in New Mexico; license applicants younger than 18 must have completed driver education.
- ³⁰ Currently, New York law does not have a minimum holding period for the learner's permit. The minimum age for an unrestricted driver's license is 18 (17 if the applicant has completed driver education). The exception is New York City where driving is prohibited unless the driver is 18 or older. Effective, September 1, 2003, New York has enacted a passenger restriction that applies to permit holders and license holders younger than 18 (17 if the applicant has completed driver education). The law also created a new class of license, the limited DJ license. Permit holders who pass a road test and certify 20 or more hours of practice driving may be given a limited DJ license which allows unsupervised driving to and from school, school activities, work, medical appointments, and day care for family members. The night driving and passenger restrictions apply to this license. Permit holders may apply for the limited DJ license at any time. There is, however, a six month holding period for the regular DJ license which allows unsupervised driving anywhere but retains the night driving and passenger restrictions. For the purpose of determining if the six month holding period has passed, both the time spent in the learner's permit phase and the time a person spends in the limited DJ phase is counted.
- ³¹ In North Carolina, learner's permit holders may not drive between 9 p.m. and 5 a.m. for the first 6 months. Driver education is required for permit and license applicants younger than 18.
- 32 Driver education is required of license applicants younger than 18 in Ohio and Oregon. However, it is waived in Oregon for applicants who certify an additional 50 hours of supervised driving.
- ³³ Fifteen year-olds may drive in Oklahoma, but only while supervised by an instructor.
- ³⁴ Driver education is required of permit and license applicants younger than 18 in Rhode Island.
- 35 In South Carolina, licensees in the learner stage may not drive between midnight and 6 a.m. unless supervised by a licensed parent or guardian. Fifteen year-olds who are enrolled in driver education do not need a permit to drive with an instructor. License applicants younger than 17 who have not completed driver education may not get a license to drive unsupervised after daylight.
- ³⁶ In South Dakota, learner's permit holders may not drive between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. unless under the supervision of their parent or guardian who is occupying a seat beside them.
- ³⁷ Learner's permit holders in Tennessee may not drive from 10 p.m. to 6 a.m.
- 38 In Texas, the minimum permit age is 15 for applicants who are enrolled in driver education. The minimum license age is 18 for applicants who have not completed driver education.
- ³⁹ Regardless of age, permit applicants in Utah must be enrolled in driver education, and license applicants must have completed driver education. Supervised driving in the learner stage may include up to 5 hours in a driving simulator. Passenger restrictions in Utah end when a driver has been licensed for 6 months or when the driver turns 18, whichever occurs first.
- ⁴⁰ Driver education is required for license applicants younger than 18 in Vermont.
- ⁴¹ In Virginia, driver education is required for license applicants younger than 19 (18 if applicant holds a valid license from another state). Initial license applicants 19 and older must either complete driver education or hold a learner's permit at least 30 days. The night driving restriction and passenger restriction (no more than 1 passenger younger than 18) apply to learner's permit holders.
- ⁴² Permit applicants in Washington must be enrolled in driver education; otherwise the minimum permit age is 15, 6 months. Driver education is required for license applicants younger than 18. Intermediate license holders with a crash or violation history are ineligible for an unrestricted license until age 18.
- ⁴³ In West Virginia, learner's permit holders younger than 18 may not drive 11 p.m.-5 a.m. and may not carry more than 2 passengers in addition to the supervising driver.
- ⁴⁴ Enrollment in driver education is required in Wisconsin for permit applicants younger than 18. Driver education is required for license applicants younger than 18. During the learner's stage, licensees may carry 3 passengers if supervised by a driving instructor in a dual-control vehicle or if at least 16, may carry 1 passenger 25 or older who has been licensed at least 2 years.
- ⁴³ In Wyoming, all applicants for an unrestricted license who are younger than 17 must have completed driver education and must have held an intermediate license for at least 6 months.

©2005 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute 1005 N. Glebe Rd., Arlington, VA 22201-4751



GDL Programs in Australia

Table A. Summary of GLS components of Australian learner permits

Component	VIC	NSW	WA	ACT	SA	NT	QLD	TAS
Minimum age	16 years	16 years	<i>L1</i> : 16 years	15 years 9	16 years	16 years	16.5 years	16 years
			<i>L2:</i> No	months				
Mandatory education	No	No	<i>L1&L2</i> : No	Yes	No	No or yes if	No	No
prior to applying						CBTA option		
Road law knowledge	Yes	Yes	L1: Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes or no if	Yes	Yes
test			<i>L2</i> : No			CBTA option		
Eyesight test	Yes	Yes	L1: Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
			<i>L2:</i> No					
Practical test	No	No	L1: No	No	No	No	No	No
			L2: Yes					
Minimum length of	6 months; 3 if	6 months	<i>L1+L2</i> : No	6 months	No	6 months or no	6 months	6 months
learner period	25+ years old					if CBTA option		
Maximum length of	10 years;	3 years; must	<i>L1+L2</i> : 1 year;	2 years; must	3, 6 or 9 months;	1 year; must	1 year;	3 years; must
permit; Ability to renew	renewable	resit test	renewable	resit test	renewable	resit test	renewable	resit test
Mandatory education	No	No	<i>L1&L2</i> : No	No	No or yes if	No or yes if	No	No
and instruction					CBTA option	CBTA option		
Mandatory minimum	No	50 hours	L1: No	No	No or yes if	No or yes if	No	50 hours
driving hours			L2: 25 hours		CBTA option	CBTA option		
Supervisory driver	Full licence	Full licence;	L1&L2: Full	Full licence	Full licence; .05	Full licence	1 year	Full licence;
minimum requirements	for 2 years;	.05 BAC	licence for 4		BAC limit		intermediate	no suspension
1	.05 BAC limit	limit	years				licence	for 2 years
Display L-plates	Yes	Yes	<i>L1&L2</i> : Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
BAC limit (g/100ml)	Zero	.02	L1&L2: .02	.02	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero
Maximum speed	No	80 km/h	<i>L1&L2</i> : 100	No	80 km/h	80 km/h except	No	80 km/h
restriction			km/h			in CBTA		
						session		
Towing restriction	Yes	Yes	<i>L1&L2</i> : Yes	750 kg GVM	No	No	No	Yes
Freeway restrictions	No	No	L1: Yes	No	No	No	No	No
			<i>L2:</i> No					

Source: Senserrick, T. and Whelan, M. 2003. Graduated Driver Licensing: *Effectiveness of Systems and Individual Components*. Wellington, Australia: Monash University Research Center.

Table B. Summary of GLS components of Australian intermediate licences

Component	VIC	NSW	WA	ACT	SA	NT	QLD	TAS
Minimum age	18 years	P1: 17 years P2: 18 years	17 years	17 years; 17.5 years P2 option	16.5 years	16.5 years or 16 years if CBTA	17 years	17 years
Practical test	Yes	P1: Yes P2: No	No	Yes or CBTA	Yes or CBTA	Yes or no if CBTA option	Yes	Yes
Hazard perception test	Yes	P1: No P2: Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	No
Knowledge test	No -	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes
Length of intermediate licence period	3 years	P1: 1 year P2: 2 years minimum	2 years	3 years	l year minimum	1 year	3 years if aged <23 years; 2 years if 23-24 years; 1 year if >24 years	3 years if aged <22 years; if 22- 24 years hold until 25 years; 1 year if >24 years
Display P-plates	Yes	<i>P1&P2</i> : Yes	Yes	Yes; No for P2 option	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Transmission restriction	Yes	P1: Yes P2: No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
BAC limit (g/100ml)	Zero	P1&P2: .02	.02	.02	Zero	Zero	Zero	Zero
Maximum speed restrictions	No	P1: 90 km/h P2: 100 km/h	110 km/h	No	100 km/h	100 km/h	No	80 km/h
Towing restriction	No	P1: max 250 kg P2: No	1.5 x tail weight of vehicle	750 kg GVM	No	No	No	No
Vehicle power restriction	Yes	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Night-time restrictions	No	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Passenger restrictions	If licence disqualified in first year, one passenger only	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No	No	No	No	No

Table B. (cont.) Summary of GLS components of Australian intermediate licences

Component	VIC	NSW	WA	ACT	SA	NT	QLD	TAS
Post-intermediate licence education	No	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No; Voluntary for P2 option	No	No	No	No
Effect of suspensions on length of intermediate licence period	No	<i>P1&P2</i> : No	No	No	No .	No	No	If first year must start again. After first year, extended by length of suspension
Lower demerit point threshold: Length of licence suspension (or 12 months good driving record option)	5 points in 12 months: 3 months	P1: 4 points: 3 months P2: 7 points: 3 months	No	4 points: 3 months; 8 points: 3 months for P2 option	4 points: 6 months	No	4 points in 12 months: 3 months	4 points in 12 months: 3 months
Exit test	No	P1: No P2: Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No
Minimum age for full licence	21 years	20 years	19 years	20 years	19 years	17.5 years or 17 years if CBTA option	20 years	20 years

GDL Program in New Zealand

Stage 1 - learner licence

- must be at least 15 years old;
- pass an eyesight check;
- pass a written theory test;
- must be accompanied by a supervisor who must sit in the front passenger seat supervisor must hold and have held a current full driver licence for at least two years;
- ♦ at all times, must display "L" (learner) plates on the vehicle;
- if under 20 years old, the legal alcohol limit is 30mg/100ml of blood;
- if over 20 years old, the legal alcohol limit is 80mg/100ml of blood.

Stage 2 - restricted licence

- held learner licence for at least six months;
- pass the restricted licence practical driving test;
- ♦ no unsupervised driving between the hours of 10 p.m. and 5 a.m. a supervisor in the front passenger seat who must hold and have held a current full driver licence for at least two years;
- only passengers carried without a supervisor are a spouse, and/or a spouse's dependants;
- if practical test in a car with an automatic transmission, only licensed to drive cars with automatic transmissions during the restricted phase – if supervised, can drive a manual vehicle;
- if under 20, legal alcohol limit is 30mg/100ml of blood;
- can apply for a full driver licence after 18 months on restricted licence if under 25 years of age, or after six months on restricted licence if 25 years of age or older;
- if successfully completed an approved course, the length of time on the restricted licence will be reduced to 12 months for those aged under 25 years and three months for those aged 25 or older;
- for under 25 year olds, the course must be undertaken after restricted licence held for at least six months;
- to obtain full licence, must pass the full license test.